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Part I. Financial Information

Item 1. Financial Statements

INGRAM MICRO INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
(Dollars in 000s, except per share data)

(Unaudited)
         
  September 27,  December 29,  
  2008   2007  
ASSETS         

Current assets:         
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 807,238  $ 579,626 
Trade accounts receivable (less allowances of $80,572 and $83,155)   3,290,346   4,054,824 
Inventories   2,531,545   2,766,148 
Other current assets   434,616   520,069 

  
 
  

 
 

Total current assets   7,063,745   7,920,667 
         

Property and equipment, net   184,138   181,416 
Goodwill   744,824   733,481 
Other assets   127,745   139,437 

  
 
  

 
 

Total assets  $ 8,120,452  $ 8,975,001 
  

 

  

 

 

         
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY         

Current liabilities:         
Accounts payable  $ 3,693,305  $ 4,349,700 
Accrued expenses   479,581   602,295 
Current maturities of long-term debt   98,199   135,616 

  
 
  

 
 

Total current liabilities   4,271,085   5,087,611 
Long-term debt, less current maturities   359,400   387,500 
Other liabilities   68,680   72,948 

  
 
  

 
 

Total liabilities   4,699,165   5,548,059 
  

 
  

 
 

         
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)         

         
Stockholders’ equity:         

Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value, 25,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding   —   — 
Class A Common Stock, $0.01 par value, 500,000,000 shares authorized; 176,203,747 and 174,243,838

shares issued and 164,845,956 and 172,942,347 shares outstanding in 2008 and 2007, respectively   1,762   1,742 
Class B Common Stock, $0.01 par value, 135,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding   —   — 
Additional paid-in capital   1,150,173   1,114,031 
Treasury stock, 11,357,791 and 1,301,491 shares in 2008 and 2007, respectively   (194,184)   (25,061)
Retained earnings   2,244,842   2,075,478 
Accumulated other comprehensive income   218,694   260,752 

  
 
  

 
 

Total stockholders’ equity   3,421,287   3,426,942 
  

 
  

 
 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 8,120,452  $ 8,975,001 
  

 

  

 

 

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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INGRAM MICRO INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
(Dollars in 000s, except per share data)

(Unaudited)
                 
  Thirteen Weeks Ended   Thirty-nine Weeks Ended  
  September 27,  September 29,  September 27,   September 29,  
  2008   2007   2008   2007  
Net sales  $ 8,283,703  $ 8,607,877  $25,677,635  $25,039,652 
                 
Cost of sales   7,830,847   8,132,940   24,251,850   23,713,128 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

                 
Gross profit   452,856   474,937   1,425,785   1,326,524 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

                 
Operating expenses:                 

Selling, general and administrative   376,784   364,136   1,150,585   1,057,232 
Reorganization costs (credits)   3,614   (176)   10,227   (1,091)

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

   380,398   363,960   1,160,812   1,056,141 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

                 
Income from operations   72,458   110,977   264,973   270,383 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

                 
Other expense (income):                 

Interest income   (5,949)   (6,908)   (13,680)   (15,328)
Interest expense   15,647   18,120   48,889   52,982 
Net foreign currency exchange loss (gain)   1,673   75   (2,130)   179 
Other   797   1,174   2,567   5,170 

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

   12,168   12,461   35,646   43,003 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

                 
Income before income taxes   60,290   98,516   229,327   227,380 
                 
Provision for income taxes   13,916   26,106   59,963   65,590 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

                 
Net income  $ 46,374  $ 72,410  $ 169,364  $ 161,790 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                 
Basic earnings per share  $ 0.28  $ 0.42  $ 1.01  $ 0.95 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                 
Diluted earnings per share  $ 0.27  $ 0.41  $ 0.99  $ 0.92 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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INGRAM MICRO INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in 000s)

(Unaudited)
         
  Thirty-nine Weeks Ended  
  September 27,  September 29, 
  2008   2007  
Cash flows from operating activities:         

Net income  $ 169,364  $ 161,790 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization   52,339   46,762 
Stock-based compensation   15,529   28,312 
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation   (1,378)   (3,459)
Noncash charges for interest and other compensation   260   321 
Deferred income taxes   13,318   (32,010)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:         

Changes in amounts sold under accounts receivable programs   —   (68,505)
Trade accounts receivable   763,896   (205,186)
Inventories   234,695   62,421 
Other current assets   39,571   (64,722)
Accounts payable   (642,445)   131,878 
Change in book overdrafts   (13,812)   (288)
Accrued expenses   (137,293)   182,188 

  
 
  

 
 

Cash provided by operating activities   494,044   239,502 
  

 
  

 
 

         
Cash flows from investing activities:         

Purchases of property and equipment   (44,392)   (34,527)
Increase in marketable securities   (1,895)   — 
Collection of collateral deposits on financing arrangements   35,000   — 
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired   (4,249)   (127,078)
  

 
  

 
 

Cash used by investing activities   (15,536)   (161,605)
  

 
  

 
 

         
Cash flows from financing activities:         

Proceeds from exercise of stock options   23,028   41,715 
Repurchase of Class A Common Stock   (169,123)   — 
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation   1,378   3,459 
Proceeds from senior term loan   250,000   — 
Net proceeds (repayments) of debt   (315,868)   104,063 

  
 
  

 
 

Cash provided (used) by financing activities   (210,585)   149,237 
  

 
  

 
 

         
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   (40,311)   19,306 
  

 
  

 
 

         
Increase in cash and cash equivalents   227,612   246,440 
         
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   579,626   333,339 
  

 
  

 
 

         
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 807,238  $ 579,779 
  

 

  

 

 

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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INGRAM MICRO INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in 000s, except per share data)

(Unaudited)

Note 1 — Organization and Basis of Presentation

     Ingram Micro Inc. (“Ingram Micro”) and its subsidiaries are primarily engaged in the distribution of information technology (“IT”) products and supply
chain solutions worldwide. Ingram Micro operates in North America, Europe, Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”), Asia-Pacific and Latin America.

     The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Ingram Micro and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to herein as the “Company”). These
consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the Company, without audit, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements contain all material
adjustments (consisting of only normal, recurring adjustments) necessary to fairly state the consolidated financial position of the Company as of
September 27, 2008, and its consolidated results of operations for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008 and September 29, 2007, and
consolidated cash flows for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008 and September 29, 2007. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation. As permitted under the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC, these consolidated financial statements do not
include all disclosures and footnotes normally included with annual consolidated financial statements and, accordingly, should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto, included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC for the year ended
December 29, 2007. The consolidated results of operations for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008 may not be indicative of the
consolidated results of operations that can be expected for the full year.

     Reclassification of Book Overdrafts

     Book overdrafts of $312,215 and $326,027 as of September 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007, respectively, represent checks issued that had not been
presented for payment to the banks and are classified as accounts payable in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. The Company typically funds these
overdrafts through normal collections of funds or transfers from bank balances at other financial institutions. Under the terms of the Company’s facilities with
its banks, the respective financial institutions are not legally obligated to honor the book overdraft balances as of September 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007,
or any balance on any given date.

     For the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008, the Company revised the presentation of changes in book overdrafts from a financing activity to an
operating activity in its consolidated statement of cash flows with a conforming change to the prior period presentation. The effect of this change decreased
the cash provided by operating activities for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 29, 2007 from $239,790 as previously disclosed in the prior year
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to $239,502 with a corresponding increase in the cash flows provided by financing activities for the thirty-nine weeks ended
September 29, 2007 from $148,949 to $149,237.

Note 2 — Share Repurchases

     In November 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program, through which the Company may purchase up to $300,000
of its outstanding shares of common stock, over a three-year period. Under the program, the Company may repurchase shares in the open market and through
privately negotiated transactions. The repurchases will be funded with available borrowing capacity and cash. The timing and amount of specific repurchase
transactions will depend upon market conditions, corporate considerations and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
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INGRAM MICRO INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in 000s, except per share data)

(Unaudited)

     The Company accounts for repurchased shares of common stock as treasury stock. Treasury shares are recorded at cost and are included as a component of
stockholders’ equity in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. The stock repurchase activity during the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008 is
summarized as follows:
             
      Weighted     
  Shares   Average   Amount  
  Repurchased   Price Per Share  Repurchased 
Cumulative balance at December 29, 2007   1,301,491  $ 19.26  $ 25,061 
Repurchased shares of common stock   10,056,300   16.82   169,123 
  

 
      

 
 

             
Cumulative balance at September 27, 2008   11,357,791   17.10  $ 194,184 
  

 

      

 

 

Note 3 — Earnings Per Share

     The Company reports a dual presentation of Basic Earnings per Share (“Basic EPS”) and Diluted Earnings per Share (“Diluted EPS”). Basic EPS excludes
dilution and is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the reported period. Diluted EPS uses
the treasury stock method or the if-converted method, where applicable, to compute the potential dilution that would occur if stock-based awards and other
commitments to issue common stock were exercised.

     The computation of Basic EPS and Diluted EPS is as follows:
                 
  Thirteen Weeks Ended   Thirty-nine Weeks Ended  
  September 27,   September 29,   September 27,   September 29,  
  2008   2007   2008   2007  
Net income  $ 46,374  $ 72,410  $ 169,364  $ 161,790 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                 
Weighted average shares   165,408,159   172,302,115   167,798,623   171,116,206 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                 
Basic EPS  $ 0.28  $ 0.42  $ 1.01  $ 0.95 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                 
Weighted average shares, including the dilutive effect of stock-based

awards (3,931,922 and 5,231,506 for the thirteen weeks ended
September 27, 2008 and September 29, 2007, respectively, and
3,463,357 and 5,357,214 for the thirty-nine weeks ended
September 27, 2008 and September 29, 2007, respectively)   169,340,081   177,533,621   171,261,980   176,473,420 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                 
Diluted EPS  $ 0.27  $ 0.41  $ 0.99  $ 0.92 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

     There were approximately 3,553,000 and 1,425,000 stock-based awards for the thirteen weeks ended September 27, 2008 and September 29, 2007,
respectively, and 6,292,000 and 1,419,000 stock-based awards for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008 and September 29, 2007, respectively, that
were not included in the computation of Diluted EPS because the exercise price was greater than the average market price of the Class A Common Stock
during the respective periods, thereby resulting in an antidilutive effect.
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INGRAM MICRO INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in 000s, except per share data)

(Unaudited)

Note 4 — Stock-Based Compensation

     The Company has a single equity incentive plan approved by its shareholders, the Ingram Micro Inc. 2003 Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan,
for the granting of stock-based incentive awards including incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units and
stock appreciation rights, among others, to key employees and members of the Company’s Board of Directors. Options granted generally vest over a period of
three years and have expiration dates not longer than 10 years from the dates of grant. A portion of the restricted stock and restricted stock units vests over a
time period of one to three years. The remainder of the restricted stock and restricted stock units vest upon achievement of certain performance measures
based on earnings growth and return on invested capital over a three-year period. Stock options granted during the thirteen weeks ended September 27, 2008
and September 29, 2007 were 16,000 and 65,000, respectively, and restricted stock and restricted stock units granted were 36,000 and 89,000, respectively.
Stock options granted during the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008 and September 29, 2007 were 1,334,000 and 1,321,000, respectively, and
restricted stock and restricted stock units granted were 1,737,000 and 1,618,000, respectively. As of September 27, 2008, approximately 12,598,000 shares
were available for future grant. Stock-based compensation expense for the thirteen weeks ended September 27, 2008 was $331 with an associated net income
tax expense during the quarter of $117, while the stock-based compensation expense for the thirteen weeks ended September 29, 2007 was $8,415 and the
related income tax benefit was $2,200. Stock-based compensation expense for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008 and September 29, 2007 was
$15,529 and $28,312, respectively, and the related income tax benefit was $4,030 and $7,300, respectively. The decrease in the stock-based compensation
expense for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008 compared to the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended September 29, 2007 was the
result of lower estimated achievement and payout under the Company’s long-term incentive compensation plans which are payable in performance-based
restricted stock units.

     During the thirteen weeks ended September 27, 2008 and September 29, 2007, a total of 925,000 and 572,000 stock options, respectively, were exercised,
and 18,000 and 8,000 restricted stock and restricted stock units vested, respectively. During the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008 and
September 29, 2007, a total of 1,570,000 and 2,935,000 stock options, respectively, were exercised, and 514,000 and 187,000 restricted stock and restricted
stock units vested, respectively.

Note 5 — Comprehensive Income (Loss)

     Comprehensive income (loss) consists of the following:
                 
  Thirteen Weeks Ended   Thirty-nine Weeks Ended  
  September 27,  September 29,  September 27,  September 29, 
  2008   2007   2008   2007  
Net income  $ 46,374  $ 72,410  $ 169,364  $ 161,790 
Changes in other comprehensive income (loss)   (119,156)   63,233   (42,058)   118,895 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

                 
Comprehensive income (loss)  $ (72,782)  $ 135,643  $ 127,306  $ 280,685 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

     The comprehensive loss for the thirteen weeks ended September 27, 2008 is driven primarily by foreign currency translation adjustments as most foreign
currencies in which the Company operates weakened during the period compared to the U.S. dollar. Accumulated other comprehensive income included in
stockholders’ equity totaled $218,694 and $260,752 at September 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007, respectively, and consisted primarily of cumulative
foreign currency translation adjustments.
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INGRAM MICRO INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in 000s, except per share data)

(Unaudited)

Note 6 — Fair Value Measurements

     Effective December 30, 2007, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”
(“FAS 157”). FAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and
expands disclosures about fair value measurements. In February 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Staff Position Nos. 157-1 and 157-2,
which partially deferred the effective date of FAS 157 for one year for certain nonfinancial assets and liabilities and removed certain leasing transactions from
its scope. In October 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Staff Position No. 157-3 (“FSP 157-3”), which clarifies the application of FAS
157 and demonstrates how the fair value of a financial asset is determined when the market for that financial asset is inactive. FSP 157-3 is effective upon
issuance. The implementation of this standard did not have any impact on the Company’s consolidated financial positions, results of operations or cash flows.

     FAS 157 requires that assets and liabilities carried at fair value be classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories: Level 1 — quoted
market prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities; Level 2 — observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by
market data and Level 3 — unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data.

     At September 27, 2008, the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis included cash equivalents and other marketable
securities totaling $623,306 determined based on Level 1 criteria, as defined above, and a net derivative liability of $3,861 determined based on Level 2
criteria. The change in the fair value of derivative instruments for the thirteen weeks ended September 27, 2008 was a gain of $9,004, which is essentially
offset by the change in fair value of the underlying hedged assets or liabilities. The change in the fair value of marketable securities was not material during
the period.

Note 7 — Goodwill and Acquisitions

     The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008 and September 29, 2007 are as follows:
                     
  North       Asia-   Latin     
  America   EMEA   Pacific   America   Total  
Balance at December 29, 2007  $ 235,493  $ 15,759  $ 482,229  $ —  $ 733,481 

Acquisitions   6,873   94   1,584   —   8,551 
Foreign currency translation   (47)   (80)   2,919   —   2,792 

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

                     
Balance at September 27, 2008  $ 242,319  $ 15,773  $ 486,732  $ —  $ 744,824 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                     
Balance at December 30, 2006  $ 156,732  $ 14,168  $ 472,814  $ —  $ 643,714 

Acquisitions   74,786   —   (209)   —   74,577 
Foreign currency translation   139   1,066   13,541   —   14,746 

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

                     
Balance at September 29, 2007  $ 231,657  $ 15,234  $ 486,146  $ —  $ 733,037 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

     In June 2008, the Company acquired the distribution business of the Cantechs Group, one of China’s largest providers of auto-identification and data
capture/point-of-sale (“DC/POS”) products and services. The acquisition expanded the Company’s value-added distribution in the Asian enterprise mobility
market. The distribution business of Cantechs Group was acquired for a cash price of $1,584, including related acquisition costs. The entire purchase price
has been preliminarily allocated to goodwill as no operating assets or liabilities were acquired and the Company is currently evaluating the valuation of the
other identifiable intangible assets acquired as part of this acquisition.
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INGRAM MICRO INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in 000s, except per share data)

(Unaudited)

     In January 2008, the Company acquired the assets of privately held Paradigm Distribution Ltd. (“Paradigm”), a key distributor in the United Kingdom of
mobile data, automatic identification and DC/POS technologies to solution providers and system integrators. The acquisition expanded the Company’s value-
added distribution of mobile data and DC/POS solutions in EMEA. Paradigm was acquired for a purchase price of $2,665, which has been preliminarily
allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values on the transaction date, resulting in goodwill of $94 and intangible
assets of $1,968, primarily related to vendor and customer relationships with estimated useful lives of 10 years.

     In June 2007, the Company acquired certain assets and liabilities of DBL Distributing Inc. (“DBL”). DBL was acquired for $102,174, which includes an
initial cash price of $96,502, including related acquisition costs, plus an estimated working capital adjustment of $5,672, which is subject to a final true-up to
be agreed to by the two parties. The purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values on the
transaction date, resulting in goodwill of $59,720, trade names of $11,600 with estimated useful lives of 20 years and other intangible assets of $12,800
primarily related to customer relationships and non-compete agreements with estimated useful lives of up to eight years. In the first half of 2008, the
Company made adjustments to the purchase price allocation above, primarily resulting from an increase in the balance of certain preacquisition liabilities, by
$6,930. These adjustments yielded an increase of goodwill for the same amount. Under the terms of the purchase agreement, the parties agreed that $10,000
of the purchase price would be held in an escrow account to cover indemnification of any claims arising from pre-acquisition contingent liabilities until the
later of June 2008 or the final resolution of any such claims. In March 2008, the Company served a notice of claim with the seller for indemnification for
certain pre-acquisition liabilities in accordance with the terms of the purchase agreement, and also notified the seller and the escrow agent, Union Bank of
California, that it was extending the term of the escrow for an additional year. In June 2008, at the request of the seller, the escrow funds were disbursed to the
seller by the escrow agent without any notice to the Company. The $10,000 is now on deposit with another financial institution and the Company has obtained
a preliminary injunction preventing any disposition of the funds from that financial institution without order of the Court.

     In March 2007, the Company acquired all the outstanding shares of VPN Dynamics and a minority interest of 49% in a related company, Securematics.
The Company’s interests in these related entities were acquired for an initial aggregate purchase price of $24,991, including related acquisition costs. The
Company has an option to acquire the remaining 51% interest held by the shareholders of Securematics at a purchase price of $1,000, which has been
recorded in accrued expenses in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at September 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007. The holders of the remaining 51%
interests in Securematics also have the option to require the Company to purchase their interests for the same amount, after two years from the transaction
date. The results of Securematics have been consolidated in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46 “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities.”

     The purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values on the transaction date, resulting in
goodwill of $18,891, trade names of $3,800 with estimated useful lives of 20 years, other intangible assets of $4,000, primarily related to customer
relationships and non-compete agreements with estimated useful lives of up to five years, and a deferred tax liability of $3,178 related to the intangible assets,
none of which are deductible for tax purposes. In accordance with the purchase agreement, in the third quarter of 2007, the Company paid the sellers $1,800
in contingent consideration for the achievement of a milestone, which was an adjustment to the initial purchase price above. In the first quarter of 2008, the
Company made an adjustment to the purchase price allocation associated with these acquisitions to reflect a reduction in tax-related liabilities at the date of
purchase totaling $57 and a decrease of goodwill for the same amount. In connection with the Company’s acquisition of VPN Dynamics and Securematics,
the parties agreed that $4,100 of the purchase price shall be held in
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INGRAM MICRO INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in 000s, except per share data)

(Unaudited)

an escrow account to cover any contingent liabilities under the purchase agreement. The funds held in escrow are scheduled to be released to the sellers in
three installments over a period of two years following the transaction date, if no claims are made. The purchase agreement also provides for the Company to
pay the sellers additional contingent consideration of up to $3,200, if certain performance levels are achieved, over the two-year period following the date of
acquisition. Such payment, if any, will be recorded as additional adjustments to the initial purchase price.

     During the thirty-nine weeks ended September 29, 2007, the Company concluded favorable resolutions of certain taxes associated with a previous
acquisition in Asia-Pacific. As a result, the Company made an adjustment to the purchase price allocation associated with this acquisition to reflect reductions
in tax-related liabilities that existed at the dates of purchase totaling $209, and a decrease of goodwill for the same amount in the respective periods.

     The aggregate gross carrying amounts of finite-lived identifiable intangible assets of $152,880 and $151,069 at September 27, 2008 and December 29,
2007, respectively, are amortized over their estimated lives ranging from 3 to 20 years. The net carrying amount was $93,675 and $104,125 at September 27,
2008 and December 29, 2007, respectively. Amortization expense was $3,911 and $4,034 for the thirteen weeks ended September 27, 2008 and
September 29, 2007, respectively, and $11,976 and $10,178 for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008 and September 29, 2007, respectively. The
net identifiable intangible assets are recorded in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

     All acquisitions for the periods presented above were not material, individually or in aggregate, to the Company as a whole and therefore, pro-forma
financial information has not been presented.

Note 8 — Reorganization and Expense-Reduction Program Costs

     During the second and third quarters of 2008, the Company announced cost-reduction programs, resulting in the rationalization and re-engineering of
certain roles and processes primarily at the regional headquarters in EMEA and targeted reductions of primarily administrative and back-office positions in
North America. Total costs of the actions incurred in EMEA for the thirteen weeks ended September 27, 2008 were $3,107 ($9,937 for the thirty-nine weeks
ended September 27, 2008), comprised of $2,657 of reorganization costs ($8,393 for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008), primarily related to
employee termination benefits for workforce reductions of approximately 105 employees (185 employees for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27,
2008), as well as $450 of other costs ($1,544 for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008) charged to selling, general and administrative expenses,
primarily comprised of consulting, legal and other expenses associated with implementing the reduction in workforce. In North America, the total costs of the
actions for the thirteen weeks ended September 27, 2008 were $680 ($2,087 for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008), all of which were
reorganization costs, primarily related to employee termination benefits for workforce reductions of approximately 105 employees of $380 ($1,787 for
approximately 215 employees for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008) and $300 of other costs related to contract terminations for equipment
leases. During the third quarter of 2008, the Company also announced cost-reduction programs related to its Asia-Pacific operations, incurring reorganization
costs of $277 for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008, primarily related to employee termination benefits for workforce reductions in
China of approximately 45 employees. Remaining costs associated with the Company’s action plans announced to date are estimated to be approximately
$3,000, which is expected to be incurred in the fourth quarter of 2008.
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     The reorganization costs and related payment activities for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008 and the remaining liability related to these
detailed actions are summarized as follows:
                 
      Amounts Paid      Remaining  
      and Charged       Liability at  
  Reorganization  Against the       September 27, 
  Costs   Liability   Adjustments  2008  
Employee termination benefits  $ 10,457  $ (4,982)  $ —  $ 5,475 
Other costs   300   —   —   300 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

  $ 10,757  $ (4,982)  $ —  $ 5,775 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

     The Company expects the remaining liabilities for the employee termination benefits and other costs to both be substantially utilized before the end of
2008.

     Prior to 2006, the Company had launched an outsourcing and optimization plan to improve operating efficiencies within its North American region. The
plan included an outsourcing arrangement that moved transaction-oriented service and support functions — including certain North America positions in
finance and shared services, customer service, vendor management and certain U.S. positions in technical support and inside sales (excluding field sales and
management positions) — to a leading global business process outsource provider. As part of the plan, the Company also had restructured and consolidated
other job functions within the North American region. The Company had also implemented a detailed plan to integrate with the Company the operations of
Techpac Holdings Limited, which was acquired in November 2004.

     Also, prior to 2006, the Company implemented other actions designed to improve operating income through reductions of selling, general and
administrative expenses and enhancements in gross margins. Key components of those initiatives included workforce reductions and facility consolidations
worldwide as well as outsourcing of certain IT infrastructure functions. Facility consolidations primarily included consolidation, closing or downsizing of
office facilities, distribution centers, returns processing centers and configuration centers throughout North America, consolidation and/or exit of warehouse
and office facilities in EMEA, Latin America and Asia-Pacific, and other costs primarily comprised of contract termination expenses associated with
outsourcing certain IT infrastructure functions as well as other costs associated with the reorganization activities.

     The above reorganization actions are complete; however, future cash outlays are required primarily for future lease payments related to exited facilities.
The remaining liabilities and payment activities in 2008 are summarized in the table below:
                 
  Outstanding   Amounts Paid      Remaining  
  Liability at   and Charged       Liability at  
  December 29,  Against the       September 27, 
  2007   Liability   Adjustments  2008  
Facility costs  $ 3,912  $ (587)  $ (530)  $ 2,795 
  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

     The Company expects the remaining liability for these facility costs to be fully utilized by the end of 2015.

     The credit adjustment to reorganization costs of $530 for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008 primarily represents lower than expected costs
to settle lease obligations related to previous actions in North America. The total credit adjustment to reorganization costs of $1,091 for the thirty-nine weeks
ended and $176 for the thirteen weeks ended September 29, 2007 consisted of $1,066 in North America ($176 in the thirteen weeks ended September 29,
2007) for lower than expected costs associated with employee termination benefits and facility consolidations related to actions taken in prior years and $25
in EMEA for lower than expected costs associated with employee termination benefits related to actions taken in prior years.
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Note 9 — Long-Term Debt

     The Company’s debt consists of the following:
         
  September 27,  December 29, 
  2008   2007  
North American revolving trade accounts receivable-backed financing facilities  $ 109,400  $ 387,500 
Senior unsecured term loan facility   250,000   — 
Revolving unsecured credit facilities and other debt   98,199   135,616 
  

 
  

 
 

   457,599   523,116 
Current maturities of long-term debt   (98,199)   (135,616)
  

 
  

 
 

         
  $ 359,400  $ 387,500 
  

 

  

 

 

     In July 2008, the Company entered into a $250,000 senior unsecured term loan facility in North America with a bank syndicate. The interest rate on this
facility is based on one-month LIBOR, plus a variable margin that is based on the Company’s debt ratings and leverage ratio. Interest is payable monthly.
Under the terms of the agreement, the Company is also required to pay a minimum of $3,125 of principal on the loan on a quarterly basis beginning in
November 2009 and a balloon payment of $215,625 at the end of the loan term in August 2012. The agreement also contains certain negative covenants,
including restrictions on funded debt and interest coverage, as well as customary representations and warranties, affirmative covenants and events of default.
The proceeds of the term loan were used for general corporate purposes, including refinancing existing indebtedness and funding working capital. Subject to
certain conditions, the Company may increase the amount of the facility up to $350,000.

     In connection with the senior unsecured term loan facility above, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a financial institution for
$200,000 of the term loan principal amount, the effect of which was to swap the LIBOR portion of the floating-rate obligation for a fixed-rate obligation. The
fixed rate including the variable margin is approximately 5%. The notional amount on the interest rate swap agreement reduces by $3,125 quarterly beginning
November 2009, consistent with the amortization schedule of the senior unsecured term loan discussed above. The Company accounts for the interest rate
swap agreement as a cash flow hedge.

     The Company has a multi-currency revolving trade accounts receivable-backed financing facility in Asia-Pacific, which provides for up to 250 million
Australian dollars, or approximately $208,000, at September 27, 2008 of borrowing capacity. Actual capacity depends upon the level of trade accounts
receivable eligible to be sold into the program and certain covenant compliance requirements. The interest rate is dependent upon the currency in which the
drawing is made and is related to the local short-term bank indicator rate for such currency. The Company had no borrowings under this Asia-Pacific multi-
currency revolving accounts receivable-backed financing facility at September 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007. The maturity date of this facility has been
extended to December 2008.

     In October 2008, the Company terminated its 100 million Australian dollar senior unsecured credit facility with a bank syndicate, which was due to expire
in December 2008. At September 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007, the Company had borrowings of $0 and $934, respectively, under this senior unsecured
credit facility. This credit facility was also used to support letters of credit. At September 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007, no letters of credit were issued.
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Note 10 — Income Tax

     At September 27, 2008, the Company had gross unrecognized tax benefits of $22,090 compared to $20,168 at December 29, 2007, or an increase of
$1,922 during the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008. The increase is primarily related to exposure on transfer pricing. Substantially all of the gross
unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would impact the Company’s effective tax rate in the period of recognition. The Company recognizes interest and
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. In addition to gross unrecognized tax benefits identified above, the interest and penalties
recorded by the Company in the third quarters of 2008 and 2007, was a reversal of $170 and an increase of $448, respectively. Interest and penalties recorded
in the first nine months of 2008 and 2007 totaled $4,735 and $3,149, respectively.

     The Company conducts business globally and, as a result, the Company and/or one or more of its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S. federal
jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions. During 2007, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) concluded its audit of the Company’s federal
income tax return for the tax years 2001 through 2003. Their examination of tax years 2004 and 2005 is currently in progress. At this time, the IRS has not
proposed any significant adjustment to the tax positions claimed on these tax returns that are not currently reflected in the Company’s income tax reserve. In
addition, a number of state and foreign examinations are also currently ongoing. The Company is engaged in continuous discussions and negotiations with
taxing authorities regarding tax matters in the various jurisdictions and the Company believes it is reasonably possible that certain federal, state and foreign
tax issues may effectively settle within the next 12 months including issues related to transfer pricing and hedge gains. Accordingly, the Company believes it
is reasonably possible that the existing unrecognized tax benefits may be reduced by a range of $8,000 to $10,000 within the next 12 months. However, the
Company can make no assurances that such unrecognized tax benefits will be reduced within the next 12 months.

Note 11 — Segment Information

     The Company operates predominantly in a single industry segment as a distributor of IT products and solutions. The Company’s operating segments are
based on geographic location, and the measure of segment profit is income from operations. The Company does not allocate stock-based compensation (see
Note 4 to consolidated financial statements) to its operating units; therefore, the Company is reporting this as a separate amount from its geographic segments.

     Geographic areas in which the Company operates currently include North America (United States and Canada), EMEA (Austria, Belgium, Denmark,
Finland, France, Germany, Hungary, Italy, The Netherlands, Norway, South Africa, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, and the United Kingdom), Asia-Pacific
(Australia, The People’s Republic of China including Hong Kong, India, Malaysia, New Zealand, Singapore, Sri Lanka, and Thailand), and Latin America
(Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Mexico, and the Company’s Latin American export operations in Miami).

     Financial information by geographic segment is as follows:
                 
  Thirteen Weeks Ended   Thirty-nine Weeks Ended  
  September 27,  September 29,  September 27,   September 29,  
  2008   2007   2008   2007  
Net sales:                 

North America  $ 3,586,467  $ 3,504,591  $10,395,631  $10,089,526 
EMEA   2,567,126   2,864,312   8,588,704   8,688,475 
Asia-Pacific   1,699,842   1,857,303   5,417,415   5,190,594 
Latin America   430,268   381,671   1,275,885   1,071,057 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

                 
Total  $ 8,283,703  $ 8,607,877  $25,677,635  $25,039,652 
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  Thirteen Weeks Ended   Thirty-nine Weeks Ended  
  September 27,  September 29,  September 27,  September 29, 
  2008   2007   2008   2007  
Income (loss) from operations:                 

North America  $ 45,525  $ 55,382  $ 130,495  $ 150,941 
EMEA   (4,689)   28,990   37,759   86,868 
Asia-Pacific   25,346   30,649   90,586   81,379 
Latin America   6,607   4,371   21,662   (20,493)
Stock-based compensation expense   (331)   (8,415)   (15,529)   (28,312)

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

                 
Total  $ 72,458  $ 110,977  $ 264,973  $ 270,383 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                 
Capital expenditures:                 

North America  $ 10,334  $ 7,466  $ 29,424  $ 25,554 
EMEA   7,269   1,544   11,454   4,189 
Asia-Pacific   547   1,558   3,062   3,783 
Latin America   224   583   452   1,001 

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

                 
Total  $ 18,374  $ 11,151  $ 44,392  $ 34,527 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

                 
Depreciation and amortization:                 

North America  $ 9,417  $ 8,551  $ 27,561  $ 24,380 
EMEA   4,175   3,784   12,708   11,264 
Asia-Pacific   3,346   3,068   10,505   9,410 
Latin America   507   574   1,565   1,708 

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

                 
Total  $ 17,445  $ 15,977  $ 52,339  $ 46,762 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

 

         
  As of  
  September 27,  December 29,  
  2008   2007  
Identifiable assets:         

North America  $ 4,761,871  $ 4,867,383 
EMEA   2,273,859   2,691,046 
Asia-Pacific   674,348   947,873 
Latin America   410,374   468,699 

  
 
  

 
 

         
Total  $ 8,120,452  $ 8,975,001 

  

 

  

 

 

     Included in the income (loss) from operations for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008 are the reorganization and cost-reduction
actions totaling $4,064 ($680 in North America, $3,107 in EMEA and $277 in Asia-Pacific) and $11,771 ($1,557 in North America, $9,937 in EMEA and
$277 in Asia-Pacific), respectively, as discussed in Note 8. As discussed in Note 4, the lower stock-based compensation expense in the 2008 periods is a result
of lower estimated achievement and payout under the Company’s long-term incentive compensation plans which are payable in performance-based restricted
stock units.

     The income from operations recorded in North America for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 29, 2007 included the $15,000 charge for estimated
losses related to the SEC matter discussed in Note 12. The loss from operations in Latin America included a commercial tax charge of $33,754 for the thirty-
nine weeks ended September 29, 2007, also discussed in Note 12.
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Note 12 — Commitments and Contingencies

     As is customary in the IT distribution industry, the Company has arrangements with certain finance companies that provide inventory-financing facilities
for its customers. In conjunction with certain of these arrangements, the Company has agreements with the finance companies that would require it to
repurchase certain inventory, which might be repossessed from the customers by the finance companies. Due to various reasons, including among other items,
the lack of information regarding the amount of saleable inventory purchased from the Company still on hand with the customer at any point in time, the
Company’s repurchase obligations relating to inventory cannot be reasonably estimated. Repurchases of inventory by the Company under these arrangements
have been insignificant to date.

     In 2003, the Company’s Brazilian subsidiary was assessed for commercial taxes on its purchases of imported software for the period January to
September 2002. The principal amount of the tax assessed for this period was 12.7 million Brazilian reais. Prior to February 28, 2007, and after consultation
with counsel, it had been the Company’s opinion that it had valid defenses to the payment of these taxes and it was not probable that any amounts would be
due for the 2002 assessed period, as well as any subsequent periods. Accordingly, no reserve had been established previously for such potential losses.
However, on February 28, 2007 changes to the Brazilian tax law were enacted. As a result of these changes, and after further consultation with counsel, it is
now the Company’s opinion that it has a probable risk of loss and may be required to pay all or some of these taxes. Accordingly, in the first quarter of 2007,
the Company recorded a charge to cost of sales of $33,754, consisting of $6,077 for commercial taxes assessed for the period January 2002 to
September 2002, and $27,677 for such taxes that could be assessed for the period October 2002 to December 2005. The subject legislation provides that such
taxes are not assessable on software imports after January 1, 2006. The sums expressed are based on an exchange rate of 2.092 Brazilian reais to the U.S.
dollar, which was applicable when the charge was recorded. In the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company released a portion of the commercial tax reserve
recorded in the first quarter of 2007 amounting to $3,620 (6.5 million Brazilian reais at a December 2007 exchange rate of 1.792 Brazilian reais to the U.S.
dollar). The partial reserve release was related to the unassessed period from October through December 2002, for which it is the Company’s opinion that the
statute of limitations for an assessment from Brazilian tax authorities had expired.

     While the tax authorities may seek to impose interest and penalties in addition to the tax as discussed above, the Company continues to believe that it has
valid defenses to the assessment of interest and penalties, which as of September 27, 2008 potentially amount to approximately $23,900 and $26,200,
respectively, based on the exchange rate prevailing on that date of 1.856 Brazilian reais to the U.S. dollar. Therefore, the Company currently does not
anticipate establishing an additional reserve for interest and penalties. The Company will continue to vigorously pursue administrative and judicial action to
challenge the current, and any subsequent assessments. However, the Company can make no assurances that it will ultimately be successful in defending any
such assessments, if made.

     In December 2007, the Sao Paulo Municipal Tax Authorities assessed the Company’s Brazilian subsidiary a commercial service tax based upon its sales
and licensing of software. The assessment covers the years 2002 through 2006 and totaled 57.2 million Brazilian reais ($30,800 based upon a September 27,
2008 exchange rate of 1.856 Brazilian reais to the U.S. dollar). The assessment included taxes claimed to be due as well as penalties for the years in question.
The authorities could make adjustments to the initial assessment including assessments for the period after 2006, as well as additional penalties and interest,
which may be material. It is management’s opinion, after consulting with counsel, that the Company’s subsidiary has valid defenses against the assessment of
these taxes and penalties, or any subsequent adjustments or additional assessments related to this matter. Although the Company intends to vigorously pursue
administrative and judicial action to challenge the current assessment and any subsequent adjustments or assessments, the Company can make no assurances
that it will ultimately be successful in its defense of this matter.
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     In May 2007, the Company received a “Wells Notice” from the SEC, which indicated that the SEC staff intends to recommend an administrative
proceeding against the Company seeking disgorgement and prejudgment interest, though no dollar amounts were specified in the notice. The staff contends
that the Company failed to maintain adequate books and records relating to certain of its transactions with McAfee Inc. (formerly Network Associates, Inc.),
and was a cause of McAfee’s own securities-laws violations relating to the filing of reports and maintenance of books and records. During the second quarter
of 2007, the Company recorded a reserve of $15,000 for the current best estimate of the probable loss associated with this matter based on discussions with
the SEC staff concerning the issues raised in the Wells Notice. No resolution with the SEC has been reached at this point, however, and there can be no
assurance that such discussions will result in a resolution of these issues. When the matter is resolved, the final disposition and the related cash payment may
exceed the current accrual for the best estimate of probable loss. At this time, it is also not possible to accurately predict the timing of a resolution. The
Company has responded to the Wells Notice and continues to cooperate fully with the SEC on this matter, which was first disclosed during the third quarter of
2004.

     There are various other claims, lawsuits and pending actions against the Company incidental to its operations. It is the opinion of management that the
ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash
flows.

Note 13 — New Accounting Standards

     In March 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 161, “Disclosures about Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities — an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133” (“FAS 161”). FAS 161 requires enhanced disclosures about an entity’s
derivative and hedging activities. Under FAS 161, entities are required to provide enhanced disclosures about (a) how and why an entity uses derivative
instruments, (b) how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under Statement 133 and its related interpretations, and (c) how
derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity’s financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. FAS 161 will be effective for the
Company beginning January 4, 2009 (the first day of fiscal 2009). Early adoption is encouraged. FAS 161 also encourages, but does not require, comparative
disclosures for earlier periods at initial adoption. The Company is currently in the process of evaluating what impact FAS 161 may have on the disclosures in
its consolidated financial statements.

     In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141(R), “Business Combinations”
(“FAS 141R”). FAS 141R supercedes Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, “Business Combinations,” and establishes principles and
requirements as to how an acquirer in a business combination recognizes and measures in its financial statements: the identifiable assets acquired, the
liabilities assumed and any controlling interest; goodwill acquired in the business combination; or a gain from a bargain purchase. FAS 141R requires the
acquirer to record contingent consideration at the estimated fair value at the time of purchase and establishes principles for treating subsequent changes in
such estimates which could affect earnings in those periods. This statement also calls for additional disclosure regarding the nature and financial effects of the
business combination. FAS 141R is to be applied prospectively by the Company to business combinations beginning January 4, 2009 (the first day of fiscal
2009). Early adoption is prohibited. The Company will assess the impact of FAS 141R if and when a future acquisition occurs.

     In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in
Consolidated Financial Statements — an amendment of ARB No. 51” (“FAS 160”). FAS 160 establishes new accounting and reporting standards for the
noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. FAS 160 also clarifies that changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in deconsolidation are equity transactions if the parent retains its controlling financial interest and requires that a parent recognize
a gain or loss in net income when a subsidiary is deconsolidated. The gain or loss will be measured using the fair value of the noncontrolling equity
investment on the deconsolidation date. Moreover, FAS 160 includes expanded disclosure requirements regarding the interests of
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the parent and its noncontrolling interest. FAS 160 is effective for the Company beginning January 4, 2009 (the first day of fiscal 2009). Early adoption is
prohibited, but upon adoption FAS 160 requires the retroactive presentation and disclosure related to existing minority interests. The Company does not
expect FAS 160 to have a material impact on its consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows upon adoption.

     In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for
Financial Assets and Liabilities” (“FAS 159”). FAS 159 permits companies to make an election to carry certain eligible financial assets and liabilities at fair
value, even if fair value measurement has not historically been required for such assets and liabilities under U.S. GAAP. FAS 159 became effective for the
Company beginning December 30, 2007 (the first day of fiscal 2008). The Company did not elect the fair value option to measure certain financial
instruments. The adoption of the provisions of FAS 159 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations
or cash flows.

     In November 2007, the Emerging Issues Task Force released Issue No. 07-01 “Accounting for Collaborative Arrangements” (“EITF 07-01”). EITF 07-01
requires collaborators to present the results of activities for which they act as the principal on a gross basis and report any payments received from (made to)
other collaborators based on other applicable GAAP or, in the absence of other applicable GAAP, based on analogy to authoritative accounting literature or a
reasonable, rational, and consistently applied accounting policy election. EITF 07-01 also clarified the determination of whether transactions within a
collaborative arrangement are part of a vendor-customer (or analogous) relationship that are subject to EITF Issue No. 01-9 “Accounting for Consideration
Given by a Vendor to a Customer.” EITF 07-01 is effective for the Company beginning January 4, 2009 (the first day of fiscal 2009). The Company is
currently in the process of evaluating what impact EITF No. 07-01 may have on its consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

     The following discussion includes forward-looking statements, including but not limited to, management’s expectations for: economic conditions; capital
resources; cost reduction actions; revenues, operating income, margins, and expenses; integration costs; operating efficiencies; profitability; market share;
rates of return; capital expenditures; acquisitions; contingencies; operating models; and exchange rate fluctuations. In evaluating our business, readers should
carefully consider the important factors included in Item 1A “Risk Factors” under Part II “Other Information” in this Quarterly Report. We disclaim any duty
to update any forward-looking statements.

Overview of Our Business

     We are the largest distributor of information technology, or IT, products and supply chain solutions worldwide based on revenues. We offer a broad range
of IT products and supply chain solutions and help generate demand and create efficiencies for our customers and suppliers around the world. Our results of
operations have been negatively affected by the difficult conditions in the economy in general. The IT distribution industry in which we operate is
characterized by narrow gross profit as a percentage of net sales, or gross margin, and narrow income from operations as a percentage of net sales, or
operating margin. Historically, our margins have also been impacted by pressures from price competition and declining average selling prices, as well as
changes in vendor terms and conditions, including, but not limited to, variations in vendor rebates and incentives, our ability to return inventory to vendors,
and time periods qualifying for price protection. We expect these competitive pricing pressures and restrictive vendor terms and conditions to continue in the
foreseeable future and may be heightened in the relative near term given the severe economic weakness that currently exists in most of the markets in which
we operate. To mitigate these factors, we have implemented changes to and continue to refine our pricing strategies, inventory management processes and
vendor program processes. In addition, we continuously monitor and change, as appropriate, certain terms, conditions and credit offered to our customers to
reflect those being imposed by our vendors and/or to recover our costs of doing business, including recovery of freight costs. We have also strived to improve
our profitability through our diversification of product offerings, including our entry into adjacent product segments such as consumer electronics, automatic
identification/data capture and point-of-sale, or DC/POS, and fee-for-service logistics offerings. Our business also requires significant levels of working
capital primarily to finance accounts receivable and inventory. We have historically relied on, and continue to rely heavily on trade credit from vendors,
available cash and debt for our working capital needs.

     We have complemented our internal growth initiatives with strategic business acquisitions, including our recent acquisitions of the distribution business of
the Cantechs Group in Asia-Pacific, Paradigm Distribution Ltd. and Symtech Nordic AS in EMEA, and Nimax in North America, each of which expanded
our value-added distribution of mobile data and DC/POS solutions; AVAD, the leading distributor for solution providers and custom installers serving the
home automation and entertainment market in the U.S.; DBL, a leading distributor of consumer electronics accessories in the U.S.; and VPN Dynamics and
Securematics, which expanded our networking product and services offerings in the U.S.

Results of Operations

     The following tables set forth our net sales by geographic region (excluding intercompany sales) and the percentage of total net sales represented thereby,
as well as operating income (loss) and operating margin (loss) by geographic region for each of the thirteen and thirty-nine week periods indicated (in
millions).
                                 
  Thirteen Weeks Ended  Thirty-nine Weeks Ended
  September 27,  September 29,  September 27,  September 29,
  2008  2007  2008  2007
  

 
 

 

Net sales by geographic
region:                                 
North America  $3,587   43.3%  $3,505   40.7%  $10,396   40.5%  $10,090   40.3%
EMEA   2,567   31.0   2,864   33.3   8,589   33.4   8,688   34.7 
Asia-Pacific   1,700   20.5   1,857   21.6   5,417   21.1   5,191   20.7 
Latin America   430   5.2   382   4.4   1,276   5.0   1,071   4.3 

  
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

Total  $8,284   100.0%  $8,608   100.0%  $25,678   100.0%  $25,040   100.0%
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  Thirteen Weeks Ended   Thirty-nine Weeks Ended  
  September 27,   September 29,   September 27,   September 29,  
  2008   2007   2008   2007  
  

 
 

 

Operating income (loss) and
operating margin (loss) by
geographic region:                                 
North America  $ 45.5   1.3% $ 55.4   1.6% $ 130.5   1.3% $ 150.9   1.5%
EMEA   (4.7)   (0.2)   29.0   1.0   37.7   0.4   86.9   1.0 
Asia-Pacific   25.4   1.5   30.6   1.7   90.6   1.7   81.4   1.6 
Latin America   6.6   1.5   4.4   1.1   21.7   1.7   (20.5)   (1.9)
Stock-based 

compensation expense   (0.3)   —   (8.4)   —   (15.5)   —   (28.3)   — 
  

 
      

 
      

 
      

 
     

Total  $ 72.5   0.9% $ 111.0   1.3% $ 265.0   1.0% $ 270.4   1.1%
  

 

      

 

      

 

      

 

     

     Our income (loss) from operations for the thirteen and thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008 include $0.7 million and $1.6 million of net charges,
respectively, in North America; $3.1 million and $9.9 million of charges, respectively, in EMEA; and $0.3 million of charges for both periods in Asia-Pacific,
related to our reorganization and expense reduction programs as discussed in Note 8 to our consolidated financial statements. Our income from operations in
North America for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 29, 2007 includes the $15.0 million charge related to the SEC matter as discussed in Note 12 to our
consolidated financial statements. In addition, our loss from operations in Latin America for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 29, 2007 includes the
commercial tax charge of $33.8 million in Brazil, also discussed in Note 12.

     We sell products purchased from many vendors but generated approximately 24% for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008 and September 29,
2007 from products purchased from Hewlett-Packard Company. There were no other vendors that represented 10% or more of our net sales in the periods
presented.

     The following table sets forth certain items from our consolidated statement of income as a percentage of net sales, for each of the periods indicated.
                 
  Thirteen Weeks Ended  Thirty-nine Weeks Ended
  September 27,  September 29,  September 27,  September 29,
  2008  2007  2008  2007
Net sales   100.0%   100.0%   100.0%   100.0%
Cost of sales   94.5   94.5   94.5   94.7 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
 

Gross profit   5.5   5.5   5.5   5.3 
Operating expenses:                 

Selling, general and administrative   4.5   4.2   4.4   4.2 
Reorganization costs (credits)   0.1   (0.0)   0.1   (0.0)

   
 
   

 
   

 
   

 
 

Income from operations   0.9   1.3   1.0   1.1 
Other expense, net   0.1   0.2   0.1   0.2 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
 

Income before income taxes   0.8   1.1   0.9   0.9 
Provision for income taxes   0.2   0.3   0.2   0.3 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
 

Net income   0.6%   0.8%   0.7%   0.6%
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 

Results of Operations for the Thirteen Weeks Ended September 27, 2008 Compared to Thirteen Weeks Ended September 29, 2007

     Our consolidated net sales decreased 3.8% to $8.28 billion for the thirteen weeks ended September 27, 2008, or third quarter of 2008, from $8.61 billion
for the thirteen weeks ended September 29, 2007, or third quarter of 2007. Our proactive steps to walk away from unprofitable business and recover freight
costs, combined with softening demand in our North American, EMEA and Asia-Pacific regions, principally resulting from the severe economic downturn,
had a negative impact on worldwide sales growth in the third quarter of 2008. These negative trends were partially offset by the translation impact of the
strengthening foreign currencies versus the U.S. dollar when compared to the exchange rates in the prior year period, which contributed approximately three
percentage-points of the worldwide growth. We continued to see solid growth in our Latin American region; however, such growth may be tempered if the
economic downturn we currently experience in the larger regions expands into the Latin American market.
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     Net sales from our North American operations increased 2.3% to $3.59 billion in the third quarter of 2008 from $3.50 billion in the third quarter of 2007,
primarily driven by modest growth in the classic distribution business, as well as continued strength in our fee-for-service and DC/POS units. Net sales from
our EMEA operations decreased 10.4% to $2.57 billion in the third quarter of 2008 from $2.86 billion in the third quarter of 2007. The soft demand for
technology products, deliberate actions to exit or turn away unprofitable business, and market reaction to our freight recovery efforts had a negative impact on
sales, partially offset by the appreciation of European currencies compared to the U.S. dollar which contributed approximately seven percentage-points
positive impact compared to the prior year. Net sales from our Asia-Pacific operations decreased 8.5% to $1.70 billion in the third quarter of 2008 from
$1.86 billion in the third quarter of 2007. The sales decline was attributable to softer demand in the region’s three largest countries combined with proactive
efforts to exit or turn away unprofitable business in certain markets. Net sales from our Latin American operations increased 12.7% to $430 million in the
third quarter of 2008 from $382 million in the third quarter of 2007, primarily reflecting continued strong demand for IT products and services throughout the
region in the quarter. However, the impacts of the weakening global economy experienced in our larger regions could eventually spread to Latin America, as
well as may intensify in other regions, thereby negatively impacting demand for IT products and our revenue.

     Gross margin remained relatively stable at approximately 5.5% for the third quarters of 2008 and 2007. The relative stability of our gross margin in the
increasingly competitive environment is due to balanced pricing discipline, a greater focus on improving overall profitability and continued growth in our
higher-margin fee-for-services business, partially offset by the reduction in volume-based rebates. We continuously evaluate and modify our pricing policies
and certain terms, conditions and credit offered to our customers to reflect those being imposed by our vendors and general market conditions. In light of
rising fuel costs, we introduced incremental freight charges to a large portion of our account base. This initiative commenced during the third quarter of 2008
and was largely implemented worldwide by the end of the quarter. We believe this initiative may have negatively impacted our sales volumes in EMEA
during the third quarter and may negatively impact our revenue in other regions. Such sales volume decrease could have a negative impact on our volume-
based rebates. In this regard, as we continue to evaluate our existing pricing policies and make modifications or future changes, if any, we may experience
moderated or continued negative sales growth in the near term. In addition, increased competition and any further retractions or softness in economies
throughout the world may hinder our ability to maintain and/or improve gross margins from the levels realized in recent quarters.

     Total SG&A expenses increased 3.5% to $376.8 million in the third quarter of 2008 from $364.1 million in the third quarter of 2007, and increased to
4.5% of net sales in the third quarter of 2008 from 4.2% in the third quarter of 2007. The period-over-period increase was primarily attributable to
investments in strategic initiatives and system enhancements and additional labor costs related to our growing fee-for-service business, which also yields a
higher gross margin as discussed above. The translation impact of foreign currencies also contributed to the growth in SG&A dollars by approximately
$9 million, or approximately three percentage-points. These factors were partially offset by the reduction of stock-based compensation of approximately
$8.1 million. The period-over-period decrease in stock-based compensation was the result of lower estimated achievement and payout under our long-term
incentive compensation plans which are payable in performance-based restricted stock units. In addition, our expense-reduction efforts are lagging behind the
pace of the sales decline, particularly in EMEA, which negatively impacted SG&A expenses as a percent of net sales for the quarter.

     In the third quarter of 2008, we incurred a charge for reorganization costs of $3.6 million, or approximately 0.1% of sales, which consisted of (a)
$3.3 million of employee termination benefits for workforce reductions associated with our targeted reduction of administrative and back-office positions in
North America, the restructuring of the regional headquarters in EMEA and workforce reductions in the Asia-Pacific region, and (b) $0.3 million for contract
terminations for equipment leases in North America. These actions were part of a cost reduction program that we commenced in the second quarter of 2008.
We expect the 2008 actions discussed above will yield approximately $18 million to $24 million of annualized cost savings, substantially all of which should
take effect by the first quarter of 2009. We may pursue other business process and/or organizational changes in our business, which may result in additional
charges related to consolidation of facilities, restructuring of business functions and workforce reductions in the future; however, any such actions may take
time to implement and savings generated may not match the rate of revenue decline in any particular period. In the third quarter of 2007, the credit to
reorganization costs of $0.2 million primarily related to actions taken in prior years for which we incurred lower than expected costs associated with
restructured facilities in North America.

21



Table of Contents

     Operating margin decreased to 0.9% in the third quarter of 2008 from 1.3% in the third quarter of 2007. The decrease was primarily attributable to the
decline in sales and the related reduction in volume-based rebates, the more competitive pricing environment, expenses that were not yet aligned with the
current sales environment and costs related to strategic initiatives and reorganization efforts. Our North American operating margin decreased to 1.3% in the
third quarter of 2008 from 1.6% in the third quarter of 2007. The decrease primarily reflects the softer demand environment, along with more competitive
pricing and expenses related to strategic initiatives and reorganization efforts. Our EMEA operating margin was a loss of 0.2% in the third quarter of 2008
compared to a positive operating margin of 1.0% in the third quarter of 2007. The operating loss was primarily attributable to declining sales and the related
reduction in volume-based rebates, more competitive pricing, reorganization costs and expenses that are not yet aligned with the current sales environment.
Our Asia-Pacific operating margin decreased to 1.5% in the third quarter of 2008 from 1.7% in the third quarter of 2007. Proactive expense reductions, as
well as exits of low-margin business, helped the region maintain solid operating margins in a declining sales environment. Our Latin American operating
margin increased to 1.5% in the third quarter of 2008 compared to 1.1% in the third quarter of 2007, primarily due to an increase in profitability driven by
product mix changes and ongoing cost containment efforts, partially offset by our investments in the start-up of operations in Argentina. We continue to
implement process improvements and other changes to improve profitability without sacrificing customer service over the long-term, including the previously
discussed imposition of freight charges and reorganization actions initiated since the second quarter of 2008. As a result, operating margins and/or sales may
fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter.

     Other expense, net, consisted primarily of interest expense and income, foreign currency exchange gains and losses and other non-operating gains and
losses. We incurred net other expense of $12.2 million in the third quarter of 2008 compared to $12.5 million in the third quarter of 2007, primarily reflecting
lower debt levels, partially offset by higher interest rates and higher foreign currency losses.

     The provision for income taxes was $13.9 million, or an effective tax rate of 23.1%, in the third quarter of 2008 compared to $26.1 million, or an effective
tax rate of 26.5%, in the third quarter of 2007. The decrease in effective tax rate was primarily a function of our mix of profits across different tax
jurisdictions in the third quarter of 2008. Our effective tax rate can be impacted not only by mix of profits but also by changes in tax rates and by changes in
the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities. As such, our effective tax rate in the most recent fiscal period may not be indicative of the rate we will
experience in future periods.

Results of Operations for the Thirty-nine Weeks Ended September 27, 2008 Compared to Thirty-nine Weeks Ended September 29, 2007

     Our consolidated net sales increased 2.5% to $25.68 billion for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 27, 2008, or the first nine months of 2008, from
$25.04 billion for the thirty-nine weeks ended September 29, 2007, or the first nine months of 2007. The increase in net sales was primarily attributable to the
translation impact of the strengthening foreign currencies compared to the U.S. dollar, which contributed approximately five percentage-points of the
worldwide growth and more than offset the impacts of the weakening global economy.

     Net sales from our North American operations increased 3.0% to $10.40 billion in the first nine months of 2008 from $10.09 billion in the first nine
months of 2007, primarily reflecting a moderate overall demand environment for IT products and services in the region, as well as revenue contribution of
approximately two percentage-points arising from our acquisition of DBL in June 2007. Net sales from our EMEA operations decreased 1.1% to $8.59 billion
in the first nine months of 2008 from $8.69 billion in the first nine months of 2007. The decrease primarily reflects the continued softening demand for IT
products and services in most markets in Europe, deliberate actions to exit or turn away unprofitable business, and market reaction to our freight recovery
efforts; largely offset by the appreciation of European currencies compared to the U.S. dollar, which contributed approximately 10 percentage-points positive
impact compared to prior year. Net sales from our Asia-Pacific operations increased 4.4% to $5.42 billion in the first nine months of 2008 from $5.19 billion
in the first nine months of 2007, primarily reflecting the appreciation of regional currencies compared to the U.S. dollar, which had an approximate five
percentage-point positive impact compared to the prior year period. Demand levels in the smaller Asia-Pacific countries were relatively strong in the first
quarter of 2008 but macro-economic softness, which began in the region’s larger economies during the second quarter of 2008, became more pronounced in
the third quarter of 2008 thereby negatively impacting our sales in the region. Net sales from our Latin American operations increased 19.1% to $1.28 billion
in the first nine months of 2008 from $1.07 billion in the first nine months of 2007, primarily reflecting the continued strong demand for IT products and
services in the region.
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     Gross margin was 5.5% in the first nine months of 2008 compared to 5.3% in the first nine months of 2007. Despite a competitive and overall weak market
through much of the year to date, we have continued our focus on pricing discipline and our more profitable businesses, including our fee-for-service logistics
business. Gross margin for the first nine months of 2007 also included a charge of $33.8 million related to Brazilian commercial taxes, which adversely
affected the prior year gross margin by approximately 0.1% of net sales.

     Total SG&A expenses increased 8.8% to $1.15 billion in the first nine months of 2008 from $1.06 billion in the first nine months of 2007, and increased to
4.4% of net sales in the first nine months of 2008 compared to 4.2% in the first nine months of 2007. The increase is a result of the labor costs related to
higher volumes in our fee-for-service business; incremental expenses related to our strategic investments, such as the ongoing development of our systems
and processes, and a full nine months of operating expenses in the 2008 period with the addition of DBL in June 2007. The strengthening of foreign
currencies also contributed to the growth in SG&A dollars by approximately $46 million, or five percentage-points. Finally, SG&A expenses for the first nine
months of 2007 included a $15.0 million charge, or approximately 0.1% of sales, to reserve for estimated losses related to an SEC matter, as disclosed in Note
12 to our consolidated financial statements.

     In the first nine months of 2008, we incurred a net charge for reorganization costs of $10.2 million, or approximately 0.1% of sales, which consisted of (a)
$10.5 million of employee termination benefits for workforce reductions associated with our targeted reduction of administrative and back-office positions in
North America, the restructuring of the regional headquarters in EMEA and workforce reduction in the Asia-Pacific region, and (b) $0.3 million for contract
terminations for equipment leases in North America, partially offset by $0.5 million for the reversal of certain excess lease obligation reserves from
reorganization actions recorded in earlier years. In the first nine months of 2007, the credit to reorganization costs of $1.1 million primarily related to actions
taken in prior years for which we incurred lower than expected costs associated with restructured facilities in North America.

     Operating margin decreased to 1.0% in the first nine months of 2008 from 1.1% in the first nine months of 2007, primarily reflecting higher SG&A
expenses and expense-reduction program costs, partially offset by gross margin improvement, as discussed above. Our North American operating margin
decreased to 1.3% in the first nine months of 2008 compared to 1.5% in the first nine months of 2007, primarily reflecting competitive pricing pressures in
our core distribution business resulting from the soft economic environment, the investments in strategic initiatives and infrastructure and the expense-
reduction program costs. The prior year also included the previously discussed charge related to the SEC matter, which was 0.1% of North American sales in
the first nine months of 2007. Our EMEA operating margin decreased to 0.4% in the first nine months of 2008 compared to 1.0% in the first nine months of
2007. The expense-reduction program costs and softening demand for IT products and services in most markets in EMEA had a negative impact on this
region with sales declining at a quicker pace than operating expenses. Our Asia-Pacific operating margin increased to 1.7% in the first nine months of 2008
from 1.6% in the first nine months of 2007, reflecting improvements in gross margin and ongoing cost containment efforts in the region over the nine month
period. However, softening revenues in the third quarter dampened the nine month operating margin from the higher levels of the first six months of 2008.
Our Latin American operating margin increased to 1.7% in the first nine months of 2008 compared to a negative margin of 1.9% in the first nine months of
2007, which included the commercial tax charge in Brazil of approximately 3.2% of Latin American revenues in the first nine months of 2007. The
improvement in Latin America also reflected enhanced gross margins and the economies of scale associated with the higher volume of business and ongoing
cost containment efforts.

     Other expense, net, consisted primarily of interest expense and income, foreign currency exchange gains and losses and other non-operating gains and
losses. We incurred net other expense of $35.6 million in the first nine months of 2008 compared to $43.0 million in the first nine months of 2007. The
decrease in net other expense is primarily attributable to net foreign currency gains in the current year and lower net interest income/expense reflecting lower
borrowings, partially offset by higher interest rates.

     The provision for income taxes was $60.0 million, or an effective tax rate of 26.1%, in the first nine months of 2008, reflecting a more favorable mix of
profits across different tax jurisdictions and a net favorable discrete impact resulting from a tax-rate change in China, partially offset by several discrete items.
In the first nine months of 2007, the provision for income taxes was $65.6 million, or an effective tax rate of 28.8%, which was negatively impacted by the
$33.8 million Brazilian commercial tax charge, for which we did not recognize an income tax benefit, partially offset by the positive impact resulting from
our reversal of certain income tax reserves following the resolution of a U.S. tax audit.
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Quarterly Data; Seasonality

     Our quarterly operating results have fluctuated significantly in the past and will likely continue to do so in the future as a result of:

•  general deterioration in economic or geopolitical conditions, including changes in legislation or regulatory environments in which we operate;

•  competitive conditions in our industry, which may impact the prices charged and terms and conditions imposed by our suppliers and/or competitors and the
prices we charge our customers, which in turn may negatively impact our revenues and/or gross margins;

•  seasonal variations in the demand for our products and services, which historically have included lower demand in Europe during the summer months,
worldwide pre-holiday stocking in the retail channel during the September-to-December period and the seasonal increase in demand for our North
American fee-based logistics related services in the fourth quarter, which affects our operating expenses and margins;

•  changes in product mix, including entry or expansion into new markets, as well as the exit or retraction of certain business;

•  the impact of and possible disruption caused by reorganization actions and efforts to improve our IT capabilities, as well as the related expenses and/or
charges;

•  currency fluctuations in countries in which we operate;

•  variations in our levels of excess inventory and doubtful accounts, and changes in the terms of vendor-sponsored programs such as price protection and
return rights;

•  changes in the level of our operating expenses;

•  the impact of acquisitions we may make;

•  the occurrence of unexpected events or the resolution of existing uncertainties, including but not limited to, litigation, regulatory matters, or uncertain tax
positions;

•  the loss or consolidation of one or more of our major suppliers or customers;

•  product supply constraints; and

•  interest rate fluctuations and/or credit market volatility, which may increase our borrowing costs and may influence the willingness or ability of customers
and end-users to purchase products and services.

     These historical variations in our business may not be indicative of future trends in the near term, particularly in light of the current weak global economic
environment. Our narrow operating margins may magnify the impact of the foregoing factors on our operating results.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows

     We have financed working capital needs largely through income from operations, available cash, borrowings under revolving accounts receivable-backed
financing programs, our term loan, revolving credit and other facilities, and trade and supplier credit. The following is a detailed discussion of our cash flows
for the first nine months of 2008 and 2007.

     Our cash and cash equivalents totaled $807.2 million and $579.6 million at September 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007, respectively. The higher cash and
cash equivalents level at September 27, 2008 compared to December 29, 2007, primarily reflects the lower working capital requirements associated with the
lower volume of business resulting from the general weakness in the economic environment, coupled with the ongoing generation of profits from the
business.

     Net cash provided by operating activities was $494.0 million for the first nine months of 2008 compared to $239.5 million for the first nine months of
2007. The net cash provided by operating activities for the first nine months of 2008 principally reflects our net income and decreases in accounts receivable
and inventories, partially offset by decreases in accounts payable and accrued expenses. The decreases in accounts receivable, inventories, accounts payable
and accrued expenses largely reflect the lower volume of business due to the weakening economic environment we have experienced in our largest regions.
The net cash provided by operating activities for the first nine months of 2007 principally reflects our net income, as well as increases in accounts payable and
accrued expenses, partially offset by an increase in accounts receivable and a decrease in amounts sold under accounts receivable programs. The increases in
accounts receivable and accounts payable largely reflect the higher volume of business as well as the slightly higher working capital requirements of a higher
mix of retail business. The increase in accrued expenses primarily relates to timing of payments for value added taxes in certain countries, and reserves for the
previously discussed commercial tax liability in Brazil and estimated losses related to the SEC matter. As discussed in Note 1 to our consolidated financial
statements, we revised the prior period presentation of book overdrafts from a financing activity to an operating activity to conform with the current period
presentation.
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     Net cash used by investing activities was $15.5 million for the first nine months of 2008 compared to $161.6 million for the first nine months of 2007. The
net cash provided by investing activities for the first nine months of 2008 was primarily due to capital expenditures, partially offset by the collection of the
collateral deposits used to secure financing. The net cash used by investing activities for the first nine months of 2007 was primarily due to capital
expenditures and the DBL, VPN Dynamics and Securematics acquisitions.

     Net cash used by financing activities was $210.6 million for the first nine months of 2008 compared to net cash provided by financing activities of
$149.2 million for the first nine months of 2007. The net cash used by financing activities for the first nine months of 2008 primarily reflects our net
repayments of $315.9 million on our debt facilities and the repurchase of Class A common stock of $169.1 million under our $300 million stock repurchase
program, partially offset by $250 million of proceeds from our senior unsecured term loan and $23.0 million in proceeds from the exercise of stock options.
The net cash provided by financing activities for the first nine months of 2007 primarily reflects the net proceeds of $104.1 million from our debt facilities
and proceeds of $41.7 million from the exercise of stock options.

     Our debt level is highly influenced by our working capital needs. As such, our borrowings fluctuate from period-to-period and may also fluctuate
significantly within a quarter. The fluctuation is the result of the concentration of payments received from customers toward the end of each month, as well as
the timing of payments made to our vendors. Accordingly, our period-end debt balance may not be reflective of our average debt level or maximum debt level
during the periods presented or at any point in time.

Capital Resources

     We have maintained a conservative capital structure which we believe will serve us well in the current economic environment. We have a range of debt
facilities which are diversified by type, maturity and geographic region with various financial institutions worldwide. These facilities have staggered
maturities through 2012. Our cash and cash equivalents are deposited and/or invested with various high quality financial institutions that we monitor
continuously. We believe that our existing sources of liquidity, including cash resources and cash provided by operating activities, supplemented as necessary
with funds available under our credit arrangements, will provide sufficient resources to meet our present and future working capital and cash requirements for
at least the next twelve months. However, the capital and credit markets have been experiencing unprecedented levels of volatility and disruption. Such
market conditions may limit our ability to replace, in a timely manner, maturing credit facilities or affect our ability to access committed capacities or the
capital we require may not be available on terms acceptable to us, or at all, due to the inability of our finance partners to meet their commitments to us.

     In July 2008, we entered into a $250 million senior unsecured term loan facility in North America with a bank syndicate. The interest rate on this facility is
based on one-month LIBOR, plus a variable margin that is based on our debt ratings and leverage ratio. Interest is payable monthly. Under the terms of the
agreement, we are also required to pay a minimum of $3.1 million of principal on the loan on a quarterly basis beginning in November 2009 and a balloon
payment of $215.6 million at the end of the loan term in August 2012. The agreement also contains certain negative covenants, including restrictions on
funded debt and interest coverage, as well as customary representations and warranties, affirmative covenants and events of default. The proceeds of the term
loan were used for general corporate purposes, including refinancing existing indebtedness and funding working capital. Subject to certain conditions, we
may increase the amount of the facility up to $350 million.

     In connection with the senior unsecured term loan facility above, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement for $200 million of the term loan
principal amount, the effect of which was to swap the LIBOR portion of the floating-rate obligation for a fixed-rate obligation. The fixed rate including the
variable margin is approximately 5%. The notional amount on the interest rate swap agreement reduces by $3.1 million quarterly beginning November 2009,
consistent with the amortization schedule of the senior unsecured term loan discussed above. We account for the interest rate swap agreement as a cash flow
hedge.

     We have a revolving accounts receivable-backed financing program in the U.S., which provides for up to $600 million in borrowing capacity secured by
substantially all U.S.-based receivables. The interest rate on this facility is dependent on the designated commercial paper rates plus a predetermined margin.
At September 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007, we had borrowings of $109.4 million and $387.5 million, respectively, under this U.S. revolving accounts
receivable-backed financing program. At our option, the program may be increased to as much as $650 million at any time prior to its maturity in July 2010.
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     We have two revolving accounts receivable-backed financing facilities in EMEA, which individually provide for borrowing capacity of up to Euro
107 million, or approximately $157 million, and Euro 230 million, or approximately $337 million, at September 27, 2008. Both facilities are with a financial
institution that has an arrangement with a related issuer of third-party commercial paper. These European facilities require certain commitment fees, and
borrowings under both facilities incur financing costs at rates indexed to EURIBOR. At September 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007, we had no borrowings
under these European revolving accounts receivable-backed financing facilities. These facilities mature in July 2010 and January 2009, respectively.

     We also have two revolving accounts receivable factoring facilities in EMEA, which individually provide for a maximum borrowing capacity of 60 million
British pound sterling, or approximately $110 million, and Euro 90 million, or approximately $132 million, respectively, at September 27, 2008. At
September 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007, we had no borrowings outstanding under these European factoring facilities. These facilities mature in
March 2010.

     We have a multi-currency revolving trade accounts receivable-backed financing facility in Asia-Pacific, which provides for up to 250 million Australian
dollars, or approximately $208 million, at September 27, 2008 of borrowing capacity. The interest rate is dependent upon the currency in which the drawing is
made and is related to the local short-term bank indicator rate for such currency. We had no borrowings under this Asia-Pacific multi-currency revolving
accounts receivable-backed financing facility at September 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007. The maturity date of this facility has been extended to
December 2008.

     Our ability to access financing under all our accounts-receivable based financing programs, as discussed above, is dependent upon the level of eligible
trade accounts receivable (e.g., we may fail to meet certain defined eligibility criteria for the trade accounts receivable, such as receivables remaining
assignable and free of liens and dispute or set-off rights) as well as continued covenant compliance requirements. At September 27, 2008, our actual
aggregate available capacity under these programs was approximately $1.3 billion based on eligible trade accounts receivable available, of which
approximately $109.4 million of such borrowing capacity was used. Our two revolving accounts receivable-backed financing facilities in EMEA are affected
by the level of market demand for commercial paper, and could be impacted by the credit ratings of the third-party issuer of commercial paper or back-up
liquidity providers, if not replaced. In addition, in certain situations, we could lose access to all or part of our financing with respect to the EMEA facility
maturing in January 2009, if our authorization to collect the receivables is rescinded by the relevant supplier under applicable local law.

     We have a $275 million revolving senior unsecured credit facility with a bank syndicate in North America which matures in August 2012. Subject to
certain conditions, this facility may be increased up to $450 million at any time prior to its maturity date. The interest rate on the revolving senior unsecured
credit facility is based on LIBOR, plus a predetermined margin that is based on our debt ratings and our leverage ratio. At September 27, 2008 and
December 29, 2007, we had no borrowings under this North American revolving senior unsecured credit facility. This credit facility may also be used to
support letters of credit. At September 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007, letters of credit of $9.9 million and $41.2 million, respectively, were issued to
certain vendors and financial institutions to support purchases by our subsidiaries, payment of insurance premiums and flooring arrangements. Our available
capacity under the agreement is reduced by the amount of any issued and outstanding letters of credit.

     In October 2008, we terminated our 100 million Australian dollar senior unsecured credit facility with a bank syndicate, which was due to expire in
December 2008. At September 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007, we had borrowings of $0 and $0.9 million, respectively, under this senior unsecured credit
facility. This credit facility was also used to support letters of credit. At September 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007, no letters of credit were issued.
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     We also have additional lines of credit, short-term overdraft facilities and other credit facilities with various financial institutions worldwide, which
provide for borrowing capacity aggregating approximately $900 million at September 27, 2008. Most of these arrangements are on an uncommitted basis and
are reviewed periodically for renewal. At September 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007, we had approximately $98.2 million and $134.7 million, respectively,
outstanding under these facilities. At September 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007, letters of credit totaling approximately $27.7 million and $30.2 million,
respectively, were issued principally to certain vendors to support purchases by our subsidiaries. The issuance of these letters of credit reduces our available
capacity under these agreements by the same amount. The weighted average interest rate on the outstanding borrowings under these facilities, which may
fluctuate depending on geographic mix, was 7.4% per annum at September 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007.

     Except for our new credit agreement that provides for a $250 million senior unsecured term loan facility in North America, the expiration of our
150 million Canadian dollar revolving accounts receivable-backed financing program in Canada in July 2008 and the termination of our 100 million
Australian dollar senior unsecured credit facility in Asia-Pacific in October 2008, there has been no other significant change in our contractual obligations
from those disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 29, 2007. Of the $250 million senior unsecured term loan outstanding
at September 27, 2008, $25 million of the loan principal is due for payment between the fourth quarter of 2009 and the third quarter of 2011. The remaining
principal balance of $225 million is due for payment between the fourth quarter of 2011 and the third quarter of 2012.

Covenant Compliance

     We are required to comply with certain financial covenants under some of our financing facilities, including restrictions on funded debt and covenants
related to interest coverage and trade accounts receivable portfolio performance, including metrics related to receivables and payables. We are also restricted
by other covenants, including but not limited to restrictions on the amount of additional indebtedness we can incur, dividends we can pay, and the amount of
common stock that we can repurchase annually. At September 27, 2008, we were in compliance with all material covenants or other material requirements set
forth in our accounts receivable financing programs and credit agreements or other agreements with our creditors as discussed above.

Other Matters

     See Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements and Item 1. “Legal Proceedings” under Part II “Other Information” for discussion of other matters.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

     There were no material changes in our quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk for the third quarter ended September 27, 2008 from those
disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 29, 2007. See Item 1A. “Risk Factors” under Part II of this Quarterly Report for
additional qualitative factors that should be considered when evaluating our overall market risk.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

     The Company’s management evaluated, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this
report. There has been no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the last fiscal quarter covered by this report
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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Part II. Other Information

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

     In 2003, our Brazilian subsidiary was assessed for commercial taxes on its purchases of imported software for the period January to September 2002. The
principal amount of the tax assessed for this period was 12.7 million Brazilian reais. Prior to February 28, 2007, and after consultation with counsel, it had
been our opinion that we had valid defenses to the payment of these taxes and it was not probable that any amounts would be due for the 2002 assessed
period, as well as any subsequent periods. Accordingly, no reserve had been established previously for such potential losses. However, on February 28, 2007
changes to the Brazilian tax law were enacted. As a result of these changes, and after further consultation with counsel, it is now our opinion that we have a
probable risk of loss and may be required to pay all or some of these taxes. Accordingly, in the first quarter of 2007, we recorded a charge to cost of sales of
$33.8 million, consisting of $6.1 million for commercial taxes assessed for the period January 2002 to September 2002, and $27.7 million for such taxes that
could be assessed for the period October 2002 to December 2005. The subject legislation provides that such taxes are not assessable on software imports after
January 1, 2006. The sums expressed are based on an exchange rate of 2.092 Brazilian reais to the U.S. dollar which was applicable when the charge was
recorded. In the fourth quarter of 2007, we released a portion of the commercial tax reserve recorded in the first quarter of 2007 amounting to $3.6 million
(6.5 million Brazilian reais at a December 2007 exchange rate of 1.792 Brazilian reais to the U.S. dollar). The partial reserve release was related to the
unassessed period from October through December 2002, for which it is management’s opinion that the statute of limitations for an assessment from Brazilian
tax authorities had expired.

     While the tax authorities may seek to impose interest and penalties in addition to the tax as discussed above, we continue to believe that we have valid
defenses to the assessment of interest and penalties, which as of September 27, 2008 potentially amount to approximately $23.9 million and $26.2 million,
respectively, based on the exchange rate prevailing on that date of 1.856 Brazilian reais to the U.S. dollar. Therefore, we currently do not anticipate
establishing an additional reserve for interest and penalties. We will continue to vigorously pursue administrative and judicial action to challenge the current,
and any subsequent assessments. However, we can make no assurances that we will ultimately be successful in defending any such assessments, if made.

     In December 2007, the Sao Paulo Municipal Tax Authorities assessed our Brazilian subsidiary a commercial service tax based upon our sales and licensing
of software. The assessment covers the years 2002 through 2006 and totaled 57.2 million Brazilian reais ($30.8 million based upon a September 27, 2008
exchange rate of 1.856 Brazilian reais to the U.S. dollar). The assessment included taxes claimed to be due as well as penalties for the years in question. The
authorities could make adjustments to the initial assessment including assessments for the period after 2006, as well as additional penalties and interest, which
may be material. It is our opinion, after consulting with counsel, that our subsidiary has valid defenses against the assessment of these taxes and penalties, or
any subsequent adjustments or additional assessments related to this matter. Although we intend to vigorously pursue administrative and judicial action to
challenge the current assessment and any subsequent adjustments or assessments, we can make no assurances that we will ultimately be successful in our
defense of this matter.

     In May 2007, we received a “Wells Notice” from the SEC, which indicated that the SEC staff intends to recommend an administrative proceeding against
the company seeking disgorgement and prejudgment interest, though no dollar amounts were specified in the notice. The staff contends that the company
failed to maintain adequate books and records relating to certain of our transactions with McAfee Inc. (formerly Network Associates, Inc.), and was a cause
of McAfee’s own securities-laws violations relating to the filing of reports and maintenance of books and records. During the second quarter of 2007, we
recorded a reserve of $15.0 million for the current best estimate of the probable loss associated with this matter based on discussions with the SEC staff
concerning the issues raised in the Wells Notice. No resolution with the SEC has been reached at this point, however, and there can be no assurance that such
discussions will result in a resolution of these issues. When the matter is resolved, the final disposition and the related cash payment may exceed the current
accrual for the best estimate of probable loss. At this time, it is also not possible to accurately predict the timing of a resolution. We have responded to the
Wells Notice and continue to cooperate fully with the SEC on this matter, which was first disclosed during the third quarter of 2004.

28



Table of Contents

     We and one of our subsidiaries are defendants in two separate lawsuits arising out of the bankruptcy of Refco, Inc., and its subsidiaries and affiliates
(collectively, “Refco”). Both actions are currently pending in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York. The trustee of the Refco
Litigation Trust has filed suit against Grant Thornton LLP, Mayer Brown Rowe & Maw, LLP, Phillip Bennett, and numerous other individuals and entities
(the “Kirschner action”), claiming damage to the bankrupt Refco entities in the amount of $2 billion. Of its forty-four claims for relief, the Kirschner action
contains a single claim against us and our subsidiary, alleging that loan transactions between the subsidiary and Refco in early 2000 and early 2001 aided and
abetted the common law fraud of Bennett and other defendants, resulting in damage to Refco in August 2004 when it effected a leveraged buyout in which it
incurred substantial new debt while distributing assets to Refco insiders. The liquidators of numerous Cayman Island-based hedge funds filed suit in New
York state court (the “Krys action”) against many of the same defendants named in the Kirschner action, as well as others. The Krys action alleges that we
and our subsidiary aided and abetted the fraud and breach of fiduciary duty of Refco insiders and others by participating in the above loan transactions,
causing damage to the hedge funds in an unspecified amount. We intend to vigorously defend these cases and do not expect the final disposition of either to
have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS FOR PURPOSES OF THE “SAFE
HARBOR” PROVISIONS OF THE PRIVATE SECURITIES

LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

     The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “Act”) provides a “safe harbor” for “forward-looking statements” to encourage companies to
provide prospective information, so long as such information is identified as forward-looking and is accompanied by meaningful cautionary statements
identifying important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statement(s). Ingram Micro
desires to take advantage of the safe harbor provisions of the Act.

     Our periodic and current reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, periodic press releases, and other public documents and statements,
may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Act, including, but not limited to, management’s expectations for process improvement;
competition; revenues, expenses and other operating results or ratios; contingencies and litigation; economic conditions; liquidity; capital requirements; and
exchange rate fluctuations. Forward-looking statements also include any statement that may predict, forecast, indicate or imply future results, performance, or
achievements. Forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of terminology such as “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “estimate,” “may,” “will,”
“should,” “project,” “continue,” “plans,” “aims,” “intends,” “likely,” or other similar words or phrases.

     We disclaim any duty to update any forward-looking statements. In addition, our representatives participate from time to time in:

 •  speeches and calls with market analysts;
 

 •  conferences, meetings and calls with investors and potential investors in our securities; and
 

 •  other meetings and conferences.

Some of the information presented in these calls, meetings and conferences may be forward-looking within the meaning of the Act.

     Our actual results could differ materially from those projected in forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of Ingram Micro. In this regard, from
time to time, we have failed to meet consensus analysts’ estimates of revenue or earnings. In future quarters, our operating results may differ significantly
from the expectations of public market analysts or investors or those projected in forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of Ingram Micro due to
unanticipated events, including, but not limited to, those discussed in this section. Because of our narrow gross margins, the impact of the risk factors stated
below may magnify the impact on our operating results and/or financial condition.

29



Table of Contents

     Difficult conditions in the global economy in general have affected our business and results of operations and these conditions are not expected to
improve in the near future and may worsen. A prolonged worldwide economic downturn may further intensify competition, regionally and internationally,
which may lead to lower sales or reduced sales growth, loss of market share, reduced prices, lower gross margins, loss of vendor rebates, extended payment
terms with customers, increased bad debt risks, shorter payment terms with vendors, increased capital investment and interest costs, increased inventory
losses related to obsolescence and/or excess quantities, all of which could adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. Our
results of operations have been affected to varying degrees by the factors noted above resulting from the difficult conditions in the global economy in general.
If the current economic downturn continues or intensifies, our results could be more adversely affected. Furthermore, the IT products industry is subject to
rapid technological change, new and enhanced product specification requirements and evolving industry standards, which can further cause inventory in stock
to decline substantially in value or to become obsolete, regardless of the general economic environment. It is the policy of many suppliers of IT products to
offer distributors like us, who purchase directly from them, limited protection from the loss in value of inventory due to technological change or such
suppliers’ price reductions. If major suppliers decrease the availability of price protection to us, such a change in policy could lower our gross margins on
products we sell or cause us to record inventory write-downs. In addition, suppliers could become insolvent and unable to fulfill their protection obligations to
us. We offer no assurance that our price protection will continue, that unforeseen new product developments will not materially adversely affect us, or that we
will successfully manage our existing and future inventories. Significant changes in supplier terms, such as higher thresholds on sales volume before
distributors may qualify for discounts and/or rebates, the overall reduction in the amount of incentives available, reduction or termination of price protection,
return levels, or other inventory management programs, or reductions in payment terms or trade credit, or vendor-supported credit programs, may adversely
impact our results of operations or financial condition.

     We also have significant credit exposure to our reseller customers and negative trends in their businesses could cause us significant credit loss. As is
customary in many industries, we extend credit to our reseller customers for a significant portion of our net sales. Resellers have a period of time, generally
30 to 60 days after date of invoice, to make payment. We are subject to the risk that our reseller customers will not pay for the products they have purchased.
The risk that we may be unable to collect on receivables may increase if our reseller customers experience decreases in demand for their products and services
or otherwise become less stable, due to adverse economic conditions. If there is a substantial deterioration in the collectibility of our receivables or if we
cannot obtain credit insurance at reasonable rates, are unable to collect under existing credit insurance policies, or fail to take other actions to adequately
mitigate such credit risk, our earnings, cash flows and our ability to utilize receivable-based financing could deteriorate.

     Economic downturns may also lead to restructuring actions and associated expenses in response to the lower sales volume. In addition, we may not be able
to adequately adjust our cost structure in a timely fashion to remain competitive, which may cause our profitability to suffer.

     Changes in our credit rating or other market factors, such as continued adverse capital and credit market conditions, may significantly affect our
ability to meet liquidity needs through reduced access to capital, or it may increase our costs of borrowing. Our business requires significant levels of
capital to finance accounts receivable and product inventory that is not financed by trade creditors. This is especially true when our business is expanding,
including through acquisitions, but we still have substantial demand for capital even during periods of stagnant or declining net sales. In order to continue
operating our business, we will continue to need access to capital, including debt financing. In addition, changes in payment terms with either suppliers or
customers could increase our capital requirements.

     We believe that our existing sources of liquidity, including cash resources and cash provided by operating activities, supplemented as necessary with funds
available under our credit arrangements, will provide sufficient resources to meet our present and future working capital and cash requirements for at least the
next twelve months. However, the capital and credit markets have been experiencing unprecedented levels of volatility and disruption. Such market
conditions may limit our ability to replace, in a timely manner, maturing liabilities or affect our ability to access committed capacities or the capital we require
may not be available on terms acceptable to us, or at all, due to inability of our finance partners to meet their commitments to us. The lack of availability of
such funding could harm our ability to operate or expand our business.
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     In addition, our cash and cash equivalents (including trade receivables collected and/or monies set aside for payment to creditors) are deposited and/or
invested with various high quality financial institutions that we monitor continuously; however, we are exposed to risk of loss on such funds or we may
experience significant disruptions in our liquidity needs if one or more of these financial institutions were to suffer bankruptcy or similar restructuring.

     Our failure to adequately adapt to economic and industry changes and to manage prolonged contractions could negatively impact our future
operating results. Rapid changes in the operating environment for IT distributors have placed significant strain on our business, and we offer no assurance
that our ability to manage future adverse industry trends will be successful. Dynamic changes in the industry have resulted in new and increased
responsibilities for management personnel and have placed and continue to place a significant strain upon our management, operating and financial systems,
and other resources. This strain may result in disruptions to our business and decreased revenues and profitability. In addition, we may not be able to attract or
retain sufficient personnel to manage our operations through such dynamic changes. Even with sufficient personnel we cannot assure our ability to
successfully manage future adverse industry trends. Also crucial to our success in managing our operations will be our ability to achieve additional economies
of scale. Our failure to achieve these additional economies of scale could harm our profitability or lead to restructuring actions which may have incremental
discrete costs. In addition, we may not achieve the objectives of our process improvement efforts or be able to adequately adjust our cost structure in a timely
fashion to remain competitive, which may cause our profitability to suffer.

     If our business does not perform well, we may be required to recognize an impairment of our goodwill or other long-lived assets or to establish a
valuation allowance against our otherwise realizable deferred income tax assets, which could adversely affect our results of operations or financial
condition. Goodwill represents the excess of the amounts we paid to acquire subsidiaries and other businesses over the fair value of their net assets on the
date of acquisition. We test goodwill at least annually for impairment. Impairment testing is performed based upon estimates of the fair value of the reporting
unit to which the goodwill relates. If it is determined that the goodwill has been impaired, we must write down the goodwill by the amount of the impairment,
with a corresponding charge to net income. Our future results of operations may be impacted by the prolonged weakness in the current economic environment
which may result in an impairment of our goodwill and/or other long-lived assets. We may, therefore, incur substantial impairment charges, which could
adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition.

     Deferred income tax represents the tax effect of the differences between the book and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets, which also
include net operating loss carryforwards for entities that have generated or continue to generate taxable losses, are assessed periodically by management to
determine if they are realizable. Factors in management’s determination include the performance of the business and the feasibility of ongoing tax planning
strategies. If based on available information, it is more likely than not that the deferred income tax asset will not be realized then a valuation allowance must
be established with a corresponding charge to net income. Such charges could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial
condition.

     We continually experience intense competition across all markets for our products and services, which may intensify in a more difficult global
economy. Our competitors include regional, national, and international distributors, as well as suppliers that employ a direct-sales model. As a result of
intense price competition in the IT products and services distribution industry, our gross margins have historically been narrow and we expect them to
continue to be narrow in the future. In addition, when there is overcapacity in our industry, our competitors may reduce their prices in response to this
overcapacity. We offer no assurance that we will not lose market share, or that we will not be forced in the future to reduce our prices in response to the
actions of our competitors and thereby experience a further reduction in our gross margins. Furthermore, to remain competitive we may be forced to offer
more credit or extended payment terms to our customers. This could increase our required capital, financing costs, and the amount of our bad debt expenses.
We have also initiated and expect to continue to initiate other business activities and may face competition from companies with more experience and/or from
new entries in those new markets. As we enter new business areas, we may encounter increased competition from current competitors and/or from new
competitors, some of which may be our current customers or suppliers, which may negatively impact our sales or profitability.
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     We operate a global business that exposes us to risks associated with international activities. We have local sales offices and/or Ingram Micro
representatives in 34 countries, and sell our products and services to resellers in more than 150 countries. A large portion of our revenue is derived from our
international operations. As a result, our operating results and financial condition could be significantly affected by risks associated with international
activities, including trade protection laws, policies and measures; tariffs; export license requirements; economic and labor conditions; political or social
unrest; economic instability or natural disasters in a specific country or region, such as hurricanes and tsunamis; environmental and trade protection measures
and other regulatory requirements; health or similar issues such as the outbreak of the avian flu; tax laws in various jurisdictions around the world (as
experienced in our Brazilian subsidiary); and difficulties in staffing and managing international operations.

     We are exposed to market risk primarily related to foreign currencies and interest rates. In particular, we are exposed to changes in the value of the U.S.
dollar versus the local currency in which the products are sold and goods and services are purchased, including devaluation and revaluation of local
currencies. We manage our exposure to fluctuations in the value of currencies and interest rates using a variety of financial instruments. Although we believe
that our exposures are appropriately diversified across counterparties and that these counterparties are creditworthy financial institutions and we monitor the
creditworthiness of our counterparties, we are exposed to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by our counterparties to foreign exchange and interest
rate swap contracts and we may not be able to adequately mitigate all foreign currency related risks.

     We have made and expect to continue to make investments in new business strategies and initiatives, including acquisitions and continued
enhancements to information systems, process and procedures and infrastructure on a global basis, which could disrupt our business and have an
adverse effect on our operating results. Such endeavors may involve significant risks and uncertainties, including distraction of management’s attention
away from normal business operations; insufficient revenue generation to offset liabilities assumed and expenses associated with the strategy; difficulty in the
integration of acquired businesses, including new employees, business systems and technology; inability to adapt to challenges of new markets, including
geographies, products and services, or to attract new sources of profitable business from expansion of products or services; exposure to new regulations; and
issues not discovered in our due diligence process. Our operations may be adversely impacted by an acquisition that (i) is not suited for us, (ii) is improperly
executed, or (iii) substantially increases our debt. All these factors could adversely affect our operating results or financial condition.

     We are dependent on a variety of information systems and a failure of these systems could disrupt our business and harm our reputation and net
sales. We depend on a variety of information systems for our operations, including our centralized IMpulse information processing system, which supports
many of our operational functions such as inventory management, order processing, shipping, receiving, and accounting. Because IMpulse is comprised of a
number of legacy, internally developed applications, it can be harder to upgrade, and may not be adaptable to commercially available software. Also, we may
acquire other businesses having information systems and records which may be converted and integrated into current Ingram Micro information systems.
Although we have not in the past experienced material system-wide failures or downtime of any of our information systems used around the world, we have
experienced failures in certain specific geographies. Failures or significant downtime for any of our information systems could prevent us from placing
product orders with vendors or recording inventory received, taking customer orders, printing product pick-lists, and/or shipping and invoicing for product
sold. It could also prevent customers from accessing our price and product availability information.

     We believe that in order to support future growth of the company, we must continue to renew our business needs and make technology upgrades to our
information systems. This can be a lengthy and expensive process that may result in a significant diversion of resources from other operations. In
implementing these systems enhancements, we may experience greater-than-acceptable difficulty or costs; we may also experience significant disruptions in
our business, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results and operations, particularly if we were to replace a substantial portion of our
current systems. In addition, we offer no assurance that competitors will not develop superior systems or that we will be able to meet evolving market
requirements by upgrading our current systems at a reasonable cost, or at all.
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     Finally, we also rely on the Internet for a significant percentage of our orders and information exchanges with our customers. The Internet and individual
websites have experienced a number of disruptions and slowdowns, some of which were caused by organized attacks. In addition, some websites have
experienced security breakdowns. To date, our website has not experienced any material breakdowns, disruptions or breaches in security; however, we cannot
assure that this will not occur in the future. If we were to experience a security breakdown, disruption or breach that compromised sensitive information, this
could harm our relationship with our customers, suppliers or associates. Disruption of our website or the Internet in general could impair our order processing
or more generally prevent our customers and suppliers from accessing information. This could cause us to lose business.

     Terminations of a supply or services agreement or a significant change in supplier terms or conditions of sale could negatively affect our
operating margins, revenue or the level of capital required to fund our operations. A significant percentage of our net sales relates to products sold to us
by relatively few suppliers or publishers. As a result of such concentration risk, terminations of supply or services agreements or a significant change in the
terms or conditions of sale from one or more of our more significant partners could negatively affect our operating margins, revenues or the level of capital
required to fund our operations. Our suppliers have the ability to make, and in the past have made, rapid and significantly adverse changes in their sales terms
and conditions, such as reducing the amount of price protection and return rights as well as reducing the level of purchase discounts and rebates they make
available to us. In most cases, we have no guaranteed price or delivery agreements with suppliers. In certain product categories, such as systems, limited price
protection or return rights offered by suppliers may have a bearing on the amount of product we may be willing to stock. We expect restrictive supplier terms
and conditions to continue in the foreseeable future. Our inability to pass through to our reseller customers the impact of these changes, as well as our failure
to develop systems to manage ongoing supplier programs, could cause us to record inventory write-downs or other losses and could have a material negative
impact on our gross margins.

     We receive purchase discounts and rebates from suppliers based on various factors, including sales or purchase volume and breadth of customers. These
purchase discounts and rebates may affect gross margins. Many purchase discounts from suppliers are based on percentage increases in sales of products. Our
operating results could be negatively impacted if these rebates or discounts are reduced or eliminated or if our vendors significantly increase the complexity
of process and costs for us to receive such rebates.

     Our ability to obtain particular products or product lines in the required quantities and to fulfill customer orders on a timely basis is critical to our success.
The IT industry experiences significant product supply shortages and customer order backlogs from time to time due to the inability of certain suppliers to
supply certain products on a timely basis. As a result, we have experienced, and may in the future continue to experience, short-term shortages of specific
products. In addition, suppliers who currently distribute their products through us may decide to shift to or substantially increase their existing distribution,
through other distributors, their own dealer networks, or directly to resellers or end-users. Suppliers have, from time to time, made efforts to reduce the
number of distributors with which they do business. This could result in more intense competition as distributors strive to secure distribution rights with these
vendors, which could have an adverse effect on our operating results. If suppliers are not able to provide us with an adequate supply of products to fulfill our
customer orders on a timely basis or we cannot otherwise obtain particular products or a product line or suppliers substantially increase their existing
distribution through other distributors, their own dealer networks, or directly to resellers, our reputation, sales and profitability may suffer.

     Changes in, or interpretations of, tax rules and regulations may adversely affect our effective income tax rates or operating margins and we may
be required to pay additional tax assessments. Unanticipated changes in our tax rates could also affect our future results of operations. Our future effective
income tax rates or operating margins could also be unfavorably affected by unanticipated decreases in the amount of revenue or earnings in countries in low
statutory tax rates, or by changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities. In addition, we are subject to the continuous examination of our
income tax returns by the Internal Revenue Service and other domestic and foreign tax authorities. We regularly evaluate our tax contingencies and uncertain
tax positions to determine the adequacy of our provision for income and other taxes based on the technical merits and the likelihood of success resulting from
tax examinations. Any adverse outcome from these continuous examinations may have an adverse effect on our operating results and financial position.

     In this regard, we recorded a net charge of 64.8 million Brazilian reais ($30.1 million at December 29, 2007) related to commercial taxes in Brazil and
have disclosed a contingency with respect to potential taxes on services in Brazil as discussed in Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements.
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     We cannot predict what loss we might incur as a result of the SEC inquiry we have received as well as other litigation matters and contingencies
that we may be involved with from time to time. In May 2007, we received a “Wells Notice” from the SEC, which indicated that the SEC staff intends to
recommend an administrative proceeding against the company seeking disgorgement and prejudgment interest, though no dollar amounts were specified in
the notice. The staff contends that the company failed to maintain adequate books and records relating to certain of our transactions with McAfee Inc.
(formerly Network Associates, Inc.), and was a cause of McAfee’s own securities-laws violations relating to the filing of reports and maintenance of books
and records. During the second quarter of 2007, we recorded a reserve of $15.0 million for the current best estimate of the probable loss associated with this
matter based on discussions with the SEC staff concerning the issues raised in the Wells Notice. No resolution with the SEC has been reached at this point,
however, and there can be no assurance that such discussions will result in a resolution of these issues. When the matter is resolved, the final disposition and
the related cash payment may exceed the current accrual for the best estimate of probable loss. At this time, it is also not possible to accurately predict the
timing of a resolution. We have responded to the Wells Notice and continue to cooperate fully with the SEC on this matter, which was first disclosed during
the third quarter of 2004.

     There are various other claims, lawsuits and pending actions against us incidental to our operations. It is our opinion that the ultimate resolution of these
matters will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. See Part II, Item 1, “Legal
Proceedings,” in this Form 10-Q for further discussion of our material legal matters.

     We may incur material litigation, regulatory or operational costs or expenses, and may be frustrated in our marketing efforts, as a result of new
environmental regulations or private intellectual property enforcement disputes. We already operate in or may expand into markets which could subject
us to environmental laws that may have a material adverse effect on our business, including the European Union Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment
Directive as enacted by individual European Union countries and other similar legislation adopted in California, which make producers of electrical goods,
including computers and printers, responsible for collection, recycling, treatment and disposal of recovered products. We may also be prohibited from
marketing products, could be forced to market products without desirable features, or could incur substantial costs to defend legal actions, including where
third parties claim that we or vendors who may have indemnified us are infringing upon their intellectual property rights. In recent years, individuals and
groups have begun purchasing intellectual property assets for the sole purpose of making claims of infringement and attempting to extract settlements from
target companies. Even if we believe that the claims are without merit, the claims can be time-consuming and costly to defend and divert management’s
attention and resources away from our business. Claims of intellectual property infringement also might require us to enter into costly settlement or pay costly
damage awards, or face a temporary or permanent injunction prohibiting us from marketing or selling certain products. Even if we have an agreement to
indemnify us against such costs, the indemnifying party may be unable or unwilling to uphold its contractual obligations to us.

     Future terrorist or military actions could result in disruption to our operations or loss of assets in certain markets or globally. Future terrorist or
military actions, in the U.S. or abroad, could result in destruction or seizure of assets or suspension or disruption of our operations. Additionally, such actions
could affect the operations of our suppliers or customers, resulting in loss of access to products, potential losses on supplier programs, loss of business, higher
losses on receivables or inventory, and/or other disruptions in our business, which could negatively affect our operating results. We do not carry broad
insurance covering such terrorist or military actions, and even if we were to seek such coverage, the cost would likely be prohibitive.

     Failure to retain and recruit key personnel would harm our ability to meet key objectives. Because of the nature of our business, which includes (but
is not limited to) high volume of transactions, business complexity, wide geographical coverage, and broad scope of products, suppliers, and customers, we
are dependent in large part on our ability to retain the services of our key management, sales, IT, operational, and finance personnel. Our continued success is
also dependent upon our ability to retain and recruit other qualified employees, including highly skilled technical, managerial, and marketing personnel, to
meet our needs. Competition for qualified personnel is intense. We may not be successful in attracting and retaining the personnel we require, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, we have recently reduced our personnel in various geographies and functions through our
restructuring and outsourcing activities. These reductions could negatively impact our relationships with our workforce, or make hiring other employees more
difficult. In addition, failure to meet performance targets for the company may result in reduced levels of incentive compensation, which may affect our
ability to retain key personnel. Additionally, changes in workforce, including government regulations, collective bargaining agreements or the availability of
qualified personnel could disrupt operations or increase our operating cost structure.
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     We face a variety of risks with outsourcing arrangements. We have outsourced various transaction-oriented service and support functions in North
America to a leading global business process outsource provider outside the United States. We have also outsourced a significant portion of our IT
infrastructure function and certain IT application development functions to third-party providers. We may outsource additional functions to third-party
providers. Our reliance on third-party providers to provide service to us, our customers and suppliers and for our IT requirements to support our business
could result in significant disruptions and costs to our operations, including damaging our relationships with our suppliers and customers, if these third-party
providers do not meet their obligations to adequately maintain an appropriate level of service for the outsourced functions or fail to adequately support our IT
requirements. As a result of our outsourcing activities, it may also be more difficult to recruit and retain qualified employees for our business needs.

     Changes in accounting rules could adversely affect our future operating results. Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. These principles are subject to interpretation by various governing bodies, including the FASB and the
SEC, who create and interpret appropriate accounting standards. Future periodic assessments required by current or new accounting standards may result in
additional non-cash charges and/or changes in presentation or disclosure. A change from current accounting standards could have a significant adverse effect
on our financial position or results of operations.

     Our quarterly results have fluctuated significantly. Our quarterly operating results have fluctuated significantly in the past and will likely continue to
do so in the future as a result of:

 •  general deterioration in economic or geopolitical conditions, including changes in legislation and regulatory environments in which we operate;
 

 •  competitive conditions in our industry, which may impact the prices charged and terms and conditions imposed by our suppliers and/or competitors
and the prices we charge our customers, which in turn may negatively impact our revenues and/or gross margins;

 

 •  seasonal variations in the demand for our products and services, which historically have included lower demand in Europe during the summer
months, worldwide pre-holiday stocking in the retail channel during the September-to-December period and the seasonal increase in demand for our
North American fee-based logistics related services in the fourth quarter, which affects our operating expenses and margins;

 

 •  changes in product mix, including entry or expansion into new markets, as well as the exit or retraction of certain business;
 

 •  the impact of and possible disruption caused by reorganization actions and efforts to improve our IT capabilities, as well as the related expenses
and/or charges;

 

 •  currency fluctuations in countries in which we operate;
 

 •  variations in our levels of excess inventory and doubtful accounts, and changes in the terms of vendor-sponsored programs such as price protection
and return rights;

 

 •  changes in the level of our operating expenses;
 

 •  the impact of acquisitions we may make;
 

 •  the loss or consolidation of one or more of our major suppliers or customers;
 

 •  product supply constraints; and
 

 •  interest rate fluctuations and/or credit market volatility, which may increase our borrowing costs and may influence the willingness or ability of
customers and end-users to purchase products and services.
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     These historical variations in our business may not be indicative of future trends in the near term, particularly in the light of the current weak global
economic environment. Our narrow operating margins may magnify the impact of the foregoing factors on our operating results. We believe that you should
not rely on period-to-period comparisons of our operating results as an indication of future performance. In addition, the results of any quarterly period are
not indicative of results to be expected for a full fiscal year.

     We are dependent on third-party shipping companies for the delivery of our products. We rely almost entirely on arrangements with third-party
shipping companies for the delivery of our products. The termination of our arrangements with one or more of these third-party shipping companies, or the
failure or inability of one or more of these third-party shipping companies to deliver products from suppliers to us or products from us to our reseller
customers or their end-user customers, could disrupt our business and harm our reputation and operating results.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

     a) Not applicable

     b) Not applicable

     c) Share Repurchase Program

The following table provides information about our monthly share repurchase activity from inception of the program through September 27, 2008:
                 

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
              Approximate
          Total Number  Dollar Value
          of Shares  of Shares that
  Total      Purchased as  May Yet Be
  Number  Average  Part of Publicly  Purchased
  of Shares  Price Paid  Announced  Under the

Fiscal Month Period  Purchased  Per Share  Program (1)  Program
November 3 – November 23, 2007   482,300  $19.67   482,300  $290,511,389 
November 24 – December 29, 2007   819,191   19.01   1,301,491   274,939,364 
December 30 – January 26, 2008   735,300   17.24   2,036,791   262,260,268 
January 27 – February 23, 2008   1,566,000   16.77   3,602,791   236,000,236 
February 24 – March 29, 2008   2,996,200   15.91   6,598,991   188,345,086 
March 30 – April 26, 2008   908,700   16.22   7,507,691   173,601,428 
April 27 – May 24, 2008   1,466,900   17.38   8,974,591   148,100,170 
May 25 – June 28, 2008   414,200   18.07   9,388,791   140,615,982 
June 29 – July 26, 2008   751,700   17.33   10,140,491   127,586,785 
July 27 – August 23, 2008   338,700   18.79   10,479,191   121,222,789 
August 24 – September 27, 2008   878,600   17.54   11,357,791   105,815,808 

In November 2007, our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program, through which the company may purchase up to $300 million of its
outstanding shares of common stock, over a three-year period. Under the program, the company may repurchase shares in the open market and through
privately negotiated transactions. The repurchases will be funded with available borrowing capacity and cash. The timing and amount of specific repurchase
transactions will depend upon market conditions, corporate considerations and applicable legal and regulatory requirements. Through September 27, 2008, we
purchased 11,357,791 shares of our common stock for an aggregate cost of $194.2 million.

 

(1)  The Company has, and may continue from time to time, to effect open market purchases during open trading periods and open market purchases
through 10b5-1 plans, which allows a company to repurchase its shares at times when it otherwise might be prevented from doing so under insider
trading laws or because of self-imposed trading blackout periods.
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Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

     Not applicable.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

     Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

     Not applicable.

Item 6. Exhibits
   
No.  Description

31.1  Certification by Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“SOX”)
   
31.2  Certification by Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of SOX
   
32.1  Certification by Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of SOX
   
32.2  Certification by Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of SOX
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Signatures

     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
      
  INGRAM MICRO INC.
     
  By:  /s/ William D. Humes
    

 

  Name:  William D. Humes
 

 

Title:

 

Executive Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

November 5, 2008
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EXHIBIT INDEX
   
No.  Description
31.1  Certification by Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“SOX”)
   
31.2  Certification by Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of SOX
   
32.1  Certification by Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of SOX
   
32.2  Certification by Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of SOX
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Exhibit 31.1

Certification by Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Gregory M.E. Spierkel, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Ingram Micro Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 (a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 (b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 (c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 (d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 (a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: November 5, 2008
   
/s/ Gregory M.E. Spierkel
 

Name: Gregory M.E. Spierkel  
 

Title: Chief Executive Officer 
          (Principal Executive Officer)  

 

 



Exhibit 31.2

Certification by Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, William D. Humes, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Ingram Micro Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

 (a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

 (b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

 (c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 (d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 (a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

 (b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: November 5, 2008
   
/s/ William D. Humes
 

Name: William D. Humes  
 

Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
          (Principal Financial Officer)  

 

 



Exhibit 32.1

Certification by Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification below is being submitted to the Securities and Exchange Commission solely for the purpose of complying with Section 1350 of Chapter 63
of Title 18 of the United States Code.

In my capacity as chief executive officer of Ingram Micro Inc., I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge, Ingram Micro Inc.’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal period ended September 27, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the information contained in such report fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Ingram Micro Inc.
   
/s/ Gregory M.E. Spierkel
 

Name: Gregory M.E. Spierkel  
 

Title: Chief Executive Officer   

Date: November 5, 2008

 



Exhibit 32.2

Certification by Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification below is being submitted to the Securities and Exchange Commission solely for the purpose of complying with Section 1350 of Chapter 63
of Title 18 of the United States Code.

In my capacity as chief financial officer of Ingram Micro Inc., I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge, Ingram Micro Inc.’s quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal period ended September 27, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the information contained in such report fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Ingram Micro Inc.
   
/s/ William D. Humes
 

Name: William D. Humes  
 

Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer   

Date: November 5, 2008

 


